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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE "STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has bheen positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on the GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is
a risk that securities traded on the GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on the GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of the Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the
“company’) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In 2018, the economic growth of China slowed down gradually.
Entering the second half of the year, the China-US trade dispute
brought greater uncertainty for the outlook of the economy, leading
to slowdown in domestic investment. However, statistics showed
that the development of domestic industries remained stable, with
demand in the logistics industry increasing steadily. As the
professional level of China’s logistics industry rose, the market size
continued to expand. The total revenue of China’s logistics industry
for 2018 was expected to exceed RMB9 trillion, against 2017's
RMB8.8 trillion.

With the further deepening of China’s supply-side structural reform,
the State strove to promote cost-reduction and efficiency
enhancement in the logistics industry. In view of the declining total
logistics costs as a percentage of gross domestic product (GDP),
logistics operational efficiency was rising, and cost was gradually
lowered in the industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the revenue of the Group’s
transportation service, warehousing service and in-plant logistics
service segments increased respectively. In particular, the in-plant
logistics service segment reported relatively substantial increase in
revenue, up by 16.4% year-on-year; the revenue of transportation
services and warehousing services increased by 9.4% and 3.0% year-
on-year respectively.

The Group's total revenue for the year under review surged by 10.0%
to RMB211.3 million, attributable to the increase in in-plant logistics
services and transportation services.
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Chalrmal’]'s Statement (continuea

In recent years, the Group focused on the development of in-plant
logistics services and during the year under review, achieved
encouraging results with an increment in both the secured orders
and revenue during the year.

We are one of the few logistics service providers that offer
comprehensive in-plant logistics services to customers. The Group
will dispatch a professional technical team to customers’
manufacturing plants and work with customers to formulate and
execute highly efficient in-plant logistics process. Our experienced
and skilled labour could, according to the progress of production of
our customers, arrange storage and inventory management, moving
raw materials for production to production lines.

Our customers are mainly international enterprises. After years of
cooperation, we have a deep understanding of their production
process and requirements, and are able to provide seamless
services to cater to their production process, by making timely
delivery of raw materials, thereby easing customers’ warehousing
pressure and enhancing production operational efficiency. Through
integration of our in-plant logistics services with our transportation
and warehousing services, we could provide them comprehensive
supply chain solutions.

The number of foreign-invested manufacturing plants has been
growing in North China and East China, especially in Jiangsu province
and Tianjin city in recent years. These foreign-invested
manufacturing plants are inclined to outsource in-plant logistics
services to professional logistics service providers, in order to focus
their resources on production process. This trend provides us with
the opportunity to expand in-plant logistics services.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, we have dispatched 666
workers to customers’ manufacturing plants to provide in-plant
logistics services.
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Chalrmaﬂ'S Statement (continuea)

During the year under review, the Group’'s transportation services
and warehousing services maintained stable expansion. In the
previous year, we expanded our vehicle fleet and upgraded our fleet
with new technology and equipment. In 2018, we continued to
enlarge our fleet and recruit more drivers. All these measures helped
improve operational efficiency of our vehicle fleet during the year
under review. At the end of the year under review, we had a diverse
vehicle fleet comprising 25 vehicles, which are all equipped with a
global positioning system (GPS) and fuel consumption management
device, thereby effectively enhancing management efficiency and
reducing maintenance and operational costs. During the year under
review, with the growth in our existing customers’ business and
increase in the number of new customers, our transportation
services recorded substantial growth.

During the year, we managed a total of six warehouses with a total
area of 68,000 square metres. During the year under review, we
continued to upgrade our storage facilities with intelligent
management system, enabling our staff and customers to monitor
and manage warehouse operations through online or even mobile
platforms. The development of intelligent and automated facilities
will not only help improve our operational efficiency, but also enable
us to effectively link up the supply chain of our customers, while
achieving synergistic effect with our transportation services and in-
plant logistics services. We originally intended to complete the
upgrading of one of our warehouses with automated storage
facilities during the first stage of automation in 2018. However, as
the global economic growth slowed down and certain import and
export businesses remained stagnant as a result of the China-US
trade dispute, we had cautiously reviewed our capital expenditure
plans and business development requirements. As a result, the
relevant upgrade had been delayed.

During the year under review, the Group’s financial position
remained healthy, with a net cash inflow of approximately RMB18.9
million and no bank borrowings. The healthy and solid financial
position allowed the Group to gradually implement its business
development strategies set at the time of listing, as well as to seize
market opportunities in a more flexible manner.
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Chalrmal’]'S Statement (continuea

PROSPECTS

On 18 February 2019, the State Council officially promulgated “The
Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area” (the “Plan”), which sets out the directions guiding
the cooperation and development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area. The development plan for the transport
and logistics industries is frequently mentioned in the Plan. The
interconnectivity of infrastructure will be the priority of the
construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area,
and transport infrastructure project is one of the integral
components of the Plan. As such, industries such as the transport
and logistics sectors will benefit from the Plan. The Greater Bay Area
has world-class transport and logistics networks. Along with the
continuous network expansion, the interconnectivity among cities,
as well as the circulation of goods and resources will also be
strengthened. The new transport infrastructure projects, including
the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link and the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge not only significantly shorten the
travelling time between major cities within the Greater Bay Area, but
also enhance the development of the logistics industry in the entire
Greater Bay Area.

According to the report “2019 Global Economic Prospects” issued by
The World Bank, the global economic growth rate is expected to
decrease gradually from 3% in 2018 to 2.9%. The World Bank also
forecasted that China’s economic growth in 2019 will decelerate to
6.2% from 6.3% previously projected, which was the second time
that the bank had lowered its growth forecast for China’s economy
in 2019.

The global economy is shrouded by a number of uncertain factors. In
particular, the China-US trade dispute, which still shows no sign of
abating, has to certain extent brought impact on the trading and
manufacturing sectors of both countries. In Europe, apart from the
fact that Britain has yet to reach a consensus on the Brexit solution,
other European countries also show political and economic
differences, which also add uncertainty to economic development.
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Chalrmaﬂ'S Statement (continuea)

In mainland China, low-pace economic growth has become the new
normal. Companies face credit crunch, while demand slows down
and trade friction escalates. All these add downward pressure on
economic growth in future. It is expected that the central
government will continue to increase investment in key
infrastructure projects so as to maintain domestic demand.
Furthermore, the government will continue to push ahead with the
supply-side structural reform, and uphold the guidelines to reduce
cost and improve efficiency for development in the logistics industry.

Although the demand in the logistics industry of mainland China has
been rising steadily in recent years while the total value of goods
carried by the logistics sector has shown year-on-year growth, the
growth rate has slowed down. In view of this and the aforesaid
uncertain economic outlook, we should remain cautious about our
business development.

China’s logistics industry is heading in the direction of strategic
development of intelligent logistics, green logistics and sharing
economy, which is in line with the Group’s business planning. The
Group has always been active in the development of automated
storage facilities and upgrade of existing storage system. The
introduction of intelligent logistics management system allows the
Group to more effectively plan for the supply chain process, as well
as improve the overall operational efficiency. In the new financial
year, we will continue to upgrade the system of our existing
warehouses. Also, we will work closely with our customers to meet
their development needs, and strive to complete the upgrade of one
of our existing warehouses under the first stage of automation. Our
vehicle fleet has been equipped with GPS and fuel consumption
management devices to enhance management efficiency and
achieve energy saving and lower consumption. To maintain the
Group's competitive edge in the industry, we need to constantly
improve our operation process through the application of intelligent
technology, so as to maximise our existing resource advantage.

The tenancy agreement of one of the warehouses has expired at the
end of 2018 and the Group decided not to renew it. It was due to
relatively worn out facilities of the warehouse and the layout of the
existing structure which limits space utilisation and could not meet
our needs to install automated storage system.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Chalrmal’]'S Statement (continuea

In the new financial year, the Group will continue to expand its
transportation services in mainland China to support the business
expansion of its existing and new customers. The Group will also
actively strengthen its export sea freight forwarding agency services,
in order to provide comprehensive global logistics solutions to its
customers.

The logistics industry has been playing both the leading and
supporting roles in China’s Belt and Road Initiative. The industry is
now accelerating the pace in the planning and building of a network
along the Belt and Road. This State’s strategy has brought about
unprecedented development opportunities for the logistics sector in
mainland China. In particular, the western region is now developing
into a new regional logistics hub. Going international is the inevitable
development trend for Chinese logistics companies. Last year, the
Group established a separate company in Egypt to cater to
customers’ demand for logistics support, thus making a significant
move to expand its overseas logistics business.

At present, our company in Egypt offers local and international
freight forwarding agency services for our customers. We are
seeking to fully leverage the strengths of our company in Egypt to
provide freight forwarding services to more Chinese enterprises in
the region.

To satisfy consumers’ rising demand for logistics services, we will
continue exploring business development opportunities to cater to
customers’ diverse needs. The Group will continue to increase its
competitiveness and further develop and consolidate its customer
base by providing comprehensive and integrated logistics services.
In view of the robust development of the domestic logistics industry,
the Group will continue to identify opportunities for mergers and
acquisitions or collaboration with third-party companies to expand
its market share.

Amid a complicated and dynamic economic environment, as well as
industry’s structural reform, 2019 is a year filled with opportunities
and challenges for the Group. We will continue to adopt a pragmatic
and cautious business approach, maintaining stability while making
progress.
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Chalrmaﬂ'S Statement (continuea

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, on behalf of the Group’s management, | would like
to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt thanks to our staff for
their contribution to the Group in the past year. Also, | would like to
thank our shareholders, customers and partners for their support to
and faith in the Group.

Li Jianxin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2019

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R M

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Group provides a wide range of logistics services to meet the
needs of our customers’ supply chains in the PRC, which include (i)
transportation; (ii) warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv)
customisation services (which consist mainly of labelling services
and bundling services).

The scope of logistics services that we provide to each customer
varies as different customers often require different kinds of services
and expertise. We normally offer transportation services to our
customers to deliver inventory (which includes production materials,
components and finished goods) to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations. Our six warehouses
located in the Guangdong Province with an approximate total area of
68,000 square metres offer warehousing services to our customers
while the rental agreement of one of these warehouses has expired at
the end of 2018. We decided not to renew this rental agreement due
to deterioration of the warehouse infrastructure. Our in-plant logistics
services cover the management of the movement of (i) production
materials and components and work-in-progress to the production
lines within our customers’ manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished
goods out to their factory gate. Our range of services gives us a
competitive advantage over other logistics service providers in the
PRC which offer only a limited range of services.

With our proven track record of providing flexible, reliable and timely
logistics services in the logistics industry, we have established a
broad customer base comprising customers from various industries,
including pharmaceutical, fast-moving consumer goods, packaging,
health and beauty and other industries. We trust that our ability to
provide logistics services to our customers for over 20 years would
not only enable us to generate stable revenue, but also demonstrate
our strength to perform logistics services at a high quality standard
and build up our reputation in the logistics industry in the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET R

The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing") on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing Date"). Benefiting
from the listing status of the Company and the continued support
from the customers together with their own business expansion, the
Group achieved favourable growth in its business operation which
resulted in higher revenue as well as profit for the year ended 31
December 2018 as compared with the year ended 31 December
2017. The Group's major business segments, including transportation
services, warehousing services and in-plant logistics services,
recorded better performance which in aggregate contributed an
increase of approximately 10.2% in the Group's revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has gradually
carried out the implementation plans of those business objectives as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 September 2017
(the “Prospectus”). In connection with the business objective of
upgrading one of the warehouses to strengthen the provision of
quality logistics services to our customers, we have completed initial
upgrade works on the construction of infrastructure facilities and
contracted with a service provider for the design and installation of
automated storage facilities and software systems enhancement in
one of the warehouses. On expanding the existing in-plant logistics
business in the North China and the East China regions, the Group
has participated in the tendering process of potential customers
which include several large customers from various industries
including beverage, chemical and pharmaceutical businesses. We
have also expanded our vehicle fleet by acquiring new trucks and
employing additional drivers for our transportation business. In
respect of enhancing sales and marketing effort, the Group has
participated in some industry exhibitions and conferences and set up
a sales and marketing department to oversee the Group's existing
and potential customer base as well as to capture additional
business opportunities via visits to customers’ operation plants in
both PRC and overseas. We have set up a company in Egypt aiming
for expansion of our logistics business overseas and currently, we
have been providing domestic and international transportation and
freight forwarding agency services in Egypt for customers. A
comparison of the status of the implementation plans with the actual
business progress is also provided in a later section of this report.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Looking forward, capitalising on the continued expansion and
development of automated storage facilities and systems in our
warehouses, we believe that the Group can maintain its
competitiveness and strengthen its market position in the logistics
industry in the PRC. Furthermore, we aim to seek opportunities to
diversify our customer base and enhance our capability in the
transportation and warehousing businesses. In anticipation of any
potential change in the customers’ operation demand for logistics
services overseas, the Group will also actively consider to explore
business opportunities to accommodate their needs.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately 10.0% from
approximately RMB192.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2017 to approximately RMB211.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in the transportation services and in-plant logistics services during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Revenue generated from the transportation services increased by
approximately 9.4% from approximately RMB89.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB97.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The increase of the transportation
services was mainly attributable to the increase in the export sea
freight forwarding agency services during the year ended 31
December 2018, which was mainly contributed by the increase in
orders from a new customer obtained during the year 2016.

Revenue generated from the warehousing services increased by
approximately 3.0% from approximately RMB41.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB43.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The increase was primarily driven by
the increase in orders from our customers.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics services increased by
approximately 16.4% from approximately RMB59.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB69.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018, which was mainly contributed by
the increase in orders from our customers.
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Revenue generated from the customisation services decreased by
approximately 15.5% from approximately RMB1.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB1.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The revenue contributed by this
segment is subject to the demand for our labelling and bundling
services from our customers on an as-needed basis.

Other income, gains and losses

Other income, gains and losses mainly consisted of bank interest
income, government subsidies and net exchange gains or losses. For
the year ended 31 December 2018, a net gain of approximately
RMB689,000 (2017: net gain of approximately RMB160,000) was
recognized, mainly attributable to the net exchange gain arising from
a customer’s settlement of USD-denominated trade receivables
which was due to the depreciation of the RMB versus USD during
2018 and the increase in bank interest income, offset by the
decrease in government subsidies for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (iii)
other allowances and benefits. Our employee benefits expenses
amounted to approximately RMB63.7 million and RMB72.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018,
respectively. The increase in employee benefits expenses of RMB8.3
million over last year was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in
the average monthly salary of our staff and workers and (ii) the
increase in the overall benefits and the associated social security
fund and insurance contribution. Our Group had a total of 857 and
865 full-time employees as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December
2018, respectively.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
our subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation
services. Our sub-contracting expenses amounted to approximately
RMB58.7 million and RMB61.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 and 31 December 2018, respectively. In general, the
subcontractors charged us based on the price stated in the
subcontracting agreements which specify the price for each type of
services they provided. The increase of sub-contracting expenses
was mainly attributable to the increase in the export sea freight
forwarding agency services during the year ended 31 December
2018, for which we assisted our customers to obtain cargo space
from shipping companies or shipping agents that meet the
customers’ requirements through outsourcing to independent
subcontractors.

Operating lease rentals

Operating lease rentals increased by approximately 12.4% from
approximately RMB19.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2017 to approximately RMB21.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in operating lease rentals in respect of rented premises, including
warehouses, office premises and temporary staff quarters (which
was due to (i) our newly leased warehouse since April 2017; and (ii)
the increase in the monthly rental in accordance with the price
adjustment provision stated in the rental agreements), and rented
plant and machinery such as forklifts.

Interest expense on bank borrowings

For the year ended 31 December 2017, interest expense of
approximately RMB1.2 million was incurred on secured bank
borrowings. These bank borrowings had been fully repaid in October
2017, and no new bank borrowings were raised subsequently,
resulting in nil interest expense for the year ended 31 December
2018.
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Listing expenses

Non-recurring listing expenses represent the professional and
consultancy fees incurred as a result of the preparation for the
Listing in 2017. For the year ended 31 December 2017, listing
expenses of approximately RMB11.3 million were recognised while
the Group did not incur any listing expenses for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expense
which mainly includes the fuel costs and maintenance expenses of
our fleet vehicles; (i) utilities expense which mainly includes the
water and electricity expenses; (iii) office and telephone expense
which mainly includes the general office expenses and long-distance
calling fees; (iv) insurance expenses for the warehouses and
transportations; (v) entertainment and travelling expenses for
business soliciting; and (vi) others which mainly include maintenance
expenses for the warehouses, professional fee and other
miscellaneous expenses. Our other expenses amounted to
approximately RMB20.7 million and RMB23.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018, respectively, and
the increase was mainly due to increase in the fuel costs and
maintenance expenses of fleet vehicles, additional professional fees
incurred for the Company’s listing status and increase in the
maintenance expenses for the warehouses.

Profit for the year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a profit for the year
of approximately RMB22.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 (2017: approximately RMB6.9 million), representing an increase
of approximately RMB15.3 million.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s operation and investments were financed principally by
cash generated from its own business operations, bank borrowings
and the proceeds from the Listing. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group had net current assets of approximately RMB107.4 million
(2017: approximately RMB84.2 million) and cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB64.3 million (2017: approximately RMB45.1
million). The Directors confirm that the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due in the
foreseeable future.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of
total bank and other borrowings divided by total equity at the end of
the year) of the Group was zero (2017: zero).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the capital structure of the
Group consisted of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to the owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves. The Group did not have any borrowing as at 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this report. The Directors review the
Group's capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, issuance of new shares
as well as the issue of new debt and redemption of existing debt.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group's business activities are in the PRC and are primarily
denominated in RMB. A subsidiary of the Group had foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposed the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the Directors will continuously monitor the related
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 December
2018 (2017: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Our Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2018 (2017 nil).

OPERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments for future
minimum leases payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of rented premises and plant and machinery of
approximately RMB67.4 million (2017: approximately RMB70.0
million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total capital commitment
of approximately RMB14.8 million (2017: approximately RMBO0.7
million), representing capital expenditure contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 865 (2017: 857) full
time employees. We determine the employee’s remuneration based
on factors such as qualification, duty, contributions, work
experience, the prevailing market conditions and the Company’s
remuneration policy. Employees’ benefits include contributions to
retirement scheme and share options under the Company’s share
option scheme. To enhance the expertise of our employees, the
Group also provides them on-the-job training and sponsors them to
attend external training courses and seminars.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the
Prospectus with the Group's actual business progress for the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2018 is set out below:

EREREERRBER 2LE

BRERMIESBZEASER ETAPRE
2018 F 12 A3 A I BRI BER E K ER LR D
Mo

Business objectives Implementation plans Actual business progress
XBER Eiatal ERERER
Upgrading one of the Obtain quotation from service providers and e  Service contracts with service providers have been

warehouses by installing

automated storage facilities

and systems
BRTEAEERIBRERAR

Hbh—fAgkE

Expanding the existing in-plant
logistics business in the
North China and the
East China regions
EREMPELRERMENRE
BARMRER

discuss the scope of service with the service
providers
EERBHERNNRETRRBHEENNR
PRI & E

Install automated storage facilities and
systems in one of the Group's existing
warehouses

RARERERERRBIERRERER

Conduct market research on the industry
trend and development especially in the
North China and the East China regions

RE RSB HOREN RERAETS
B

Participate in the tendering process of
potential customers
SEBERPHORIEER

Hire approximately 30 additional staff for the
in-plant logistics business
BBRAMREBINENNEET

Rent new forklifts and other equipment
EMNEREMGE

signed and initial upgrade works on the construction of
infrastructure facilities have been completed.
BERBHEREEREE NI TRERZRBRERAE
MPSFARIRE -

The Group has entered into a contract of
approximately RMB13 million with a service provider
for the design and installation of automated storage
facilities and equipment and software systems
enhancement in one of the warehouses.
AEERER—(HEER B L RFRBNRTRRER
Aoyt BRBHEERRT THBEEAR
ey -

Market researches on the industry trend and
development were performed.
TEBERERMIGHECHET

The Group has participated in the tendering process
of potential customers which include several large
customers from the beverage, the chemical and the
pharmaceutical industries.

SEE2HEEERP (BREAH  LBREBETEET
REP)NHBERER -

The Group has hired 30 additional staff for the in-
plant logistics business.
CEERBAMTEBERENNEEL -

The plan has yet to be implemented.
HEMAREN
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Business objectives Implementation plans Actual business progress
E%ER Hista EREBER

Expanding vehicle fleet o Acquire four trucks for transportation o Four trucks were purchased.
BAEN o EBEENHERHFE o DHENHFSE-

Enhancing sales and marketing
effort
MABHEREHNE

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018

e Hire approximately eight additional drivers for
transportation business
o REBEBHENN\ERH

o Participate in industry exhibitions and trade
fairs
o 2HETEREENEHE

¢ Redesign and maintain the Company's
website for marketing purpose
o AEHENENRG REEARRL

o Setup a sales and marketing department and
hire approximately seven sales specialists
o RUHERLSHBPVEROLBHEFS

Four additional drivers have been on board.
HERM A AR E R o

The Group attended industry exhibitions which
include the 2018 Shanghai International Container
Exhibition 2018 L /G EI IR &£ £ E E €) held in
Shanghai, PRC and the Third Global Logistics
Technology Conference 2018 2018 = B2 B 1A
A €) held at Haikou, PRC.
AREHRETRRE(REEHE DERTN2018 L8
HREREREEEREFEBORRMN018E=EL
RIRRMTRE) o

The Company’'s website has been redesigned with
more graphics and picturesque images and has also
been enhanced by adding more company news and
industry information.

RRARMEBESE SRR AT ELZERRER -
WEMT RRAMERTEERM -

The sales and marketing department has been set up
and four sales specialists were employed.
ERUHEEREHBPEVERANLHEESS -

Staff representatives of the Group visited customers'
new factory plants overseas and a company has
been set up in Egypt for expansion of the Group's
logistics business overseas.
AEENBERREFEPNENIIEE - WAER
B —ERAE URNEIMERAEER MR ERS -
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the offering of the shares of the Company by
way of share offer, net of underwriting commission and relevant

Fr&R

expenses, amounted to approximately HK$38.8 million.

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the Listing

Date up to 31 December 2018 is set out below:

HR®
ARF AR B ETT A B ERMDASIRFEN
BeiHfe kAR HR3BEABET -

BN EIIMTS

Planned use

T HEEE2018F12 A31 H BB RIEA

of net
proceeds
(as stated Actual
in the use of net
Prospectus) proceeds up
up to to
31 December 31 December
2018 2018
EE20185F
12A31HL HE2018%F
BEREERK 12A31HLE
e RIERE FRreRIERE
KEEE RE HERAE
HKS$'million HKS$'million
BEET BEATT
Upgrading one of the warehouses by installing  #iBZTE 88t A R L REG
automated storage facilities and systems AHRE+—ERE 18.0 1.2
Expanding existing in-plant logistics business IR MEEIL R ERME
in the North China and the East China regions HAERAYRER 3.1 0.4
Expanding vehicle fleet A E X 2.4 1.2
Enhancing sales and marketing effort IAHE REHENE 2.0 1.1
Repaying the bank loans EEBRITER 4.0 40
General working capital —REEED 2.8 2.8
Total 45T 32.3 10.7

BFHYR (FE) ZERERDE | 21
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The business objectives as stated in the Prospectus were based on
the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the
Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The use of proceeds
was applied in accordance with the actual development of the
market.

As at 31 December 2018, approximately HK$10.7 million out of the
net proceeds from the Listing had been used. The unused net
proceeds have been deposited in licensed banks.

The Company intends to apply the net proceeds in the manner as
stated in the Prospectus. However, the Directors will constantly
evaluate the Group’s business objectives and may change or modify
plans against the changing market condition to attain sustainable
business growth of the Group.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Jianxin (R &3%7), aged 57 and is the younger brother of Mr.
Li Jianming, was appointed as a Director on 22 November 2016 and
was redesignated as an executive Director and appointed as the
chairman of the Board on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianxin is also a
member of the Nomination Committee and the compliance officer of
the Group. Mr. Li Jianxin is responsible for managing the overall
operation and developing the overall strategic planning and business
management of the Group. Mr. Li Jianxin has over 20 years of
experience in the logistics industry and in managing the Group’s
operations and negotiating business deals with clients. Mr. Li Jianxin
has been the vice president of the Guangzhou Logistics & Supply
Chain Association (& /1 %77 B2 4 & $2 17 &) since July 2005 and he
completed a business administration course at the Sun Yat-sen
University in 2014.

Mr. Li Jianming (E#8), aged 59 and is the elder brother of Mr.
Li Jianxin, was appointed as an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of the Company on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianming
is also a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Li Jianming is
responsible for monitoring the business operation and formulating
sales strategies of the Group. He has approximately 20 years of
experience in the logistics industry. Mr. Li Jianming joined Guangzhou
World-Link (China) Co. Ltd. (E /M 5t 3z 3R K ¥ A R A &), then
known as Guangzhou zZhonglian World-Link Warehousing and
Transportation Company Limited* (BN #IRFEEHFEGR A A),
an operating subsidiary of the Group in July 2005 as the general
manager and subsequently became its managing director in August
2016. Mr. Li Jianming completed his secondary school education in
1976.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence (&R ), aged 51, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. He is
the chairman of the Audit Committee. He is currently a director of an
accounting firm based in Hong Kong.

Dr. Wan obtained a bachelor of law degree from the Tsinghua
University, PRC in January 2004, and a doctorate degree of
philosophy in business administration from the Bulacan State
University in the Philippines in May 2006. Dr. Wan is a certified public
accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Dr. Wan has over 10 years of experiences in taxation
advisory, business management and accounting with several
professional accounting firms and companies.

Dr. Wan has been an independent non-executive director of Union
Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 08173), since November 2015. From
January 2014 to April 2015, Dr. Wan was an independent non-
executive director of China National Culture Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 745). From December 2015 to September 2018, Dr. Wan was
an independent non-executive director of Trillion Grand Corporate
Company Limited (now known as hmvod Limited), a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 08103).

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy (#%#), aged 50, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Dr. Wu
is the chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Dr. Wu is currently a senior lecturer of the Department of
Accountancy and Law at The Hong Kong Baptist University. He
attained a doctorate degree in law in December 2003, a postgraduate
certificate in law in June 1994 and a bachelor degree in law in
November 1993, all from The University of Hong Kong. He also
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2013. His writings
include the second edition of his co-authored book on financial
services published in early 2015. He is a co-author of the Guide to
Corporate Governance for Subvented Organisations, the second
edition of which was published by the Hong Kong Government in
June 2015.

Dr. Wu was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Convoy Financial Services Holdings Ltd (now known as Convoy
Global Holdings Ltd), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1019), from March 2010 to June 2015
and of Wan Leader International Limited, a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 08482), since August 2018.
From 2006 to 2012, he was a member of the Advisory Group on
Share Capital, Distribution of Profits and Assets and Charges
Provisions for the rewrite of the Companies Ordinance, on
appointment by the Financial Services and Treasury Bureau of the
Hong Kong Government. From 2011 to 2016, he was a member of
the Advisory Group on Modernisation of Corporate Insolvency Law,
also on appointment by the Financial Services and Treasury Bureau.
He has been serving the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants as a director of a professional diploma programme in
insolvency since 2012.
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Mr. Shao Wei (BB{&), aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Mr. Shao is a member
of each of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Shao obtained an undergraduate degree from the Wuxi Institute
of Light Industry in July 1998. Mr. Shao has been employed by KPMG
Advisory (China) Limited since April 2013. He is currently a director of
the same company, where he is responsible for offering
management consultation to clients, with a focus on strategy and
business model development, management and leadership
enhancement, organisation development and operation
improvement.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lin Jianfang (##&13), aged 46, is the financial controller of the
Group. Ms. Lin joined the Group in December 1997 and has been the
financial manager since January 2008. Ms. Lin is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial matters such as financial reporting,
accounting, tax and other compliance related matters of the Group. Ms.
Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the China Central
Radio and TV University (& EREERAZ) in July 2006.

Mr. Jiang Xianchuan (5% &), aged 57, joined the Group since May
2000 and has been the chief operating officer since April 2010. Mr. Jiang
is mainly responsible for overseeing the Group’s project management
and warehousing and logistics operations. Mr. Jiang has over 16 years of
logistics operation experience. Mr. Jiang completed his high school
education in 1981.

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#8%#%7), aged 42, joined the Group since February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang is
mainly responsible for negotiating the Group's service contracts with
customers and preparation of business performance analysis and
contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (= Bl % B i B Bt &
) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee (& B ¥ it 1% (L & it & 8 &) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Ms. Fan Wing Ki (5E§k3H), aged 44, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 31 March 2017. Ms. Fan is
registered as a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) with The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has over 17 years
of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and corporate
secretarial practices and procedures in Hong Kong. Prior to 2014,
Ms. Fan was employed by C.B. Wong & Co., an accounting firm in
Hong Kong, where her last held position was audit manager. After
her departure in 2014, Ms. Fan started her own practice of Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong.

Ms. Fan obtained a higher diploma in accountancy and a master of
arts degree in international accounting from the City University of
Hong Kong in 1998 and 2005 respectively. She has been a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2002
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2006.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company. To
accomplish this, the Group has established policies and procedures
for compliance with the principles and code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") and Corporate Governance Report contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2018 (the
“Relevant Period").

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Code”). The Company has made specific
inquiry with all the Directors, and has not been notified of any non-
compliance with the required standard of dealings and the Code by
the Directors for the Relevant Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group’s business. The Board is
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-day
operation of the Group’s businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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The main functions performed by the Board include but are not
limited to the following matters:

formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring
the implementation thereof;

o deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments,
divestments, disposals of assets or any significant capital
expenditure;

o approving of the Group’s financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the GEM Listing Rules;

o developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems,

o Board appointment and other major appointments or removal,
and

o monitoring the performance of the management.

composition

As at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS"):

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. Li Jianming (Chief executive officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this Annual Report.
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Except for Mr. Li Jianming being the elder brother of Mr. Li Jianxin,
save as disclosed herein, which to the best knowledge of the
Company, there is no other relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the members
of the Board.

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three INEDS, representing more
than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence, and the Company has assessed and considered
such Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the
various guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and board succession
planning, as applicable.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal action against its Directors and officers.

Training and Support for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other
regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company will from time to time provide
briefings to all Directors to develop and refresh their duties and
responsibilities. In accordance with the Code Provision Aé.5 of the
CG Code regarding continuous professional development, the
Company had received the training record from each of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming and
each of the non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Wan Ho Yuen,
Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei, who had attended
training sessions and seminars as well as read materials on
corporate governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and
accounting/financial/management or other professional skills to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions
and duties of a listed company director during the year ended 31
December 2018.

A ERE
ARREERFEARNAEBERABNESS
ZLBBHEE T -

RAEZE
eIt E B Rz
BR o

RN EERRERESZE ST
ERCHE WREFSRERS

EEEANEERAL S FERT (AEA) EAR
¥BRERSKEEIE (1E )*ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁa
LA BB, A EREZ -

%%&mn E&/\ﬁ:{
RRABEHEEERSAME T4
TEEEE VRRZHE -

BEE2IBIIETIE
BUHEZAESHEREBERZAREIERN
2EREFIAEBF AR - URBREARR
AIMEEREBEEE T - WD HERNGEM
ETRAIREMERRTEUARA AR ERRE R
BETEENET - ARFABTHERNLEBESR
AR - IR BB HENBERET - BB
TEEATAERSESEEE 2 TAUKXE
A6SIE A RRIBWEESHITES (BIREH L
ERBERLE) REIENTES (ALEERE
T AREE LT REELE) SIS - KBS
REZE2018F 12 A31 B IEF[E H F 15 IR EH
WMite URBECEERER  KEFHZZE
& RA - ERAMER WS TR
B NISEMBRES S A ETRAREENA
@ BRAEFBE -

SHEEHER

fEFHIR (FRE) }ZHX’EBE27 31

—E-N\FEFR



32

g
mf 2

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Board Meetings

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given in a
reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an
agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the
meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees”
including, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee) meetings during the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out in the table below:

ERRERESHFELR

REBZE2018F12ANBILEFE  SEFRES
g% REASLEFZE((EEEAY
BREZZES FHNZESMERLZES)E
BZHEEHINTE

Meetings Attended and Eligible to Attend

EHERABRRIHE SR
Annual General
Meeting held
Audit Remuneration  Nomination on 23 May
Board  Committee = Committee = Committee 2018
20185
5A23A€fTZ
EEg guzEE FHEEE REEEE BREFEXE
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Li Jianxin Rigmrns 4/4 N/A TEF N/ATEA 11 11
Mr. Li Jianming RR\LE 4/4 N/A TEA n N/A @R 1n
Independent non-executive Directors i 377 %
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence BEREBL 4/4 4/4 N/A T3 F N/A iR 01
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy HREBLT 4/4 4/4 7N 1N 11
Mr. Shao Wei BELE 4/4 4/4 11 11 11
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FEREEHITE

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The roles of the Group’s Chairman and CEO are
complimentary, but importantly distinct and separate. Mr. Li Jianxin,
executive Director, is the Chairman and is responsible for the
leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while Mr. Li Jianming, executive Director, is the CEO and
is responsible for monitoring the business operation and formulating
sales strategies of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of service commencing from the Listing
Date and shall continue thereafter subject to a maximum of three
years unless terminated by either party giving not less than one
month'’s notice in writing.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, were
established by the Board with defined terms of reference explaining
their respective roles and the authority delegated by the Board.
These defined terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the GEM.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference (as revised on 30 January 2019)
in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and
paragraph C.3 of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, namely, Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu.
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There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, four meetings of the Audit
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group's quarterly,
interim and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and
compliance under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the re-
election of auditor of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the
CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianming, and two INEDs, being
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A.5 of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members:
one executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianxin, and two INEDs, being Dr.
Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 30 January 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

character and integrity

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

J any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board

o requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules
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any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the

Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company

o such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Ccommittee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning

Nomination Process

(@  Appointment of New Director

(i)

(i)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.
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For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)

(iii)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no new Director was

appointed.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting, at which all members of the
Nomination Committee (i) reviewed the structure, size and
composition as well as the diversity of the Board; (ii) assessed the
independence of the INEDs; and (i) recommended to the Board for
consideration the re-appointment of all the retiring Directors at the
Annual General Meeting. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

The Company has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its
external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2018. Details of
the fees paid/payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the year
are as follows:

ate Governance Report «contined
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements are
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 67 of this
Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Fan Wing Ki (“Ms. Fan"”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 31 March 2017. Ms. Fan has been
informed of the requirement of the Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules, and she confirmed that she had attained no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year of 2018. Biographical
information of the Ms. Fan is set out in the section headed
"Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM shall
be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such questions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Room E, 10/F, Full Win Commercial Centre, 573 Nathan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong or via telephone at +86 20 38770505.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the articles of
association, shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Save for the adoption of a new Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company by a special resolution passed on 26
September 2017 and became effective on 18 October 2017 for the
purpose of the Listing, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2018.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and the Company, in general, information is communicated to the
Shareholders mainly through the Company'’s interim reports, annual
reports and quarterly reports, general meetings, as well as the
corporate communications and publications published on the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the
Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com).

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor
will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Group establishes and maintains appropriate review on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which cover financial, operational and
compliance controls, to safeguard Shareholders' investment and the
Group's assets. The Board oversees the overall risk management of
the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating
measures. The principal risks and the relevant measures have been
disclosed in the section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in
the Report of the Directors on page 46 of this report. The Group'’s
systems of risk management and internal controls are designed to
manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute,
assurance against the risk of material misstatement, fraud or loss.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management and external auditors, conducted a
review of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2018 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.46 t0 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees of
the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any inside
information and any information which may potentially constitute
inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to
the Board and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure.
Inside information and other information which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be announced on
the respective websites of the GEM and the Company in due course.

Dividend Policy

On 30 January 2019, the Board has approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future business growth and its shareholding value.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (the “Financial Year").

REORGANISATION AND LISTING

In preparing for the initial listing of the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”) on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "stock Exchange”), the companies now comprising the Group
underwent a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) to
rationalise the group structure. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the
Company became the holding company of the Group on 29
December 2016. Details of the Reorganisation are more fully
explained in the section headed “History, Reorganisation and
Corporate Structure” of the prospectus of the Company dated 29
September 2017 (the "Prospectus”). The Group resulting from the
Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity.

The Shares of the Company have been listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) since 18 October 2017 (“Listing
Date").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law").

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set forth in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of logistics services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2018 and a discussion on the
Group’s future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 22 of this Annual Report. These discussions
form part of this Report of the Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, major risks are summarised below and further details
of the Group'’s financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in note 25(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Concentration risk of reliance on limited nhumber of
customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue from a limited
number of customers. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
five largest customers of the Group contributed approximately 87.6%
of total revenue to the Group. There is a risk that these significant
customers to cancel or terminate the service agreements with the
Group without cause and no assurance that these significant
customers will continue their business relationship with the Group or
that the revenue generated from these customers will increase or be
maintained in the future. The Group will continue to expand the
customer base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The industry in which the Group operates is fragmented. The Group
may be less competitive than some of its competitors in terms of
scale of operations and cannot assure that it will be able to continue
to compete successfully in its existing markets. The Group is
committed to compete in the market based on its ability to provide
comprehensive, flexible and reliable logistics services to its
customers and price.

Reliance on subcontractors for handling transportation
services

Certain transportation services are subcontracted to independent
third party subcontractors. Performance of our subcontractors for
transportation services may fail to meet the requirements of the
Group or those of our customers which may lead to a delay or failure
in delivering our services to our customers. There is no assurance
that the Group would be able to closely monitor the performance of
the subcontractors but the Group will try to maintain and enhance its
business relationship with the subcontractors for providing good
quality of transportation services to the customers.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services so
that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group’s standards at all
times.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company'’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the GEM.
The establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the
year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, the
Group has complied in material aspects with all the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Further details are disclosed in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules, which will be
published on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 28 to 44 of this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 146
of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 71 of this Annual Report, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and retained profits,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
amounted to approximately RMB20.8 million (2017: RMB22.7 million),
of which nil dividend was proposed for the year. Under the
Companies Law, the share premium account of the Company of
approximately RMB37.8 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
RMB37.8 million) is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of
association and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The Company's share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last four financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company or the Prospectus, is set out on pages 147 to 148 of this
Annual Report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital during the
year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the Listing, the Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September
2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the Listing. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to the Eligible Persons (as defined in the Prospectus of the
Company) as rewards or incentives for their contribution to the
Group.
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The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares of the Company, being 10% of
the total number of shares in issue at the time dealings in the shares
first commence on the Stock Exchange and there was no change in
the total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued share
capital that it represented as at the date of this report.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
Participant (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to Share
Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each Participant and shall be the highest of () the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the share options, which
must be a trading day of the Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the share
options; and (i) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are contained in the
section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

No share option has been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled or
lapsed pursuant to the Share Option Scheme since its adoption by
the Company and up to 31 December 2018.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the
Financial Year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Among these related party transactions, save as the rental expense
for office premises (as disclosed in note 23(b) to the consolidated
financial statements) constituted continuing connected transaction
which is fully exempt from the relevant reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Directors confirm that no other related party transactions conducted
during the Financial Year constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which require disclosure under
the applicable requirements of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected transaction
has been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the continuing connected
transaction on terms that are fair and reasonable and are in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin
Mr. Li Jianming

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei
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In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Li Jianming, Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence and Dr.
Wu Ka Chee, Davy will retire by rotation and be eligible to offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the Group,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 23 to 27 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
date of the Listing. The independent non-executive Directors, namely
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy and Mr. Shao Wei,
have been appointed for a term of three years commencing from the
date of the Listing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The
remuneration of the executive Directors is subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee, and their remuneration is determined
with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the
independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at 31 December 2018 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2018.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2018 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Ccompany, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

Name of Directors Capacity
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Mr. Li Jianxin (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 37.91%
interest held jointly with another person Ordinary Shares

BREF e 4 (Mfat) REHEEER 0 B — AT HARENER 303,300,000 37.91%
% B AR

Mr. Li Jianming (Note)  Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 37.91%
interest held jointly with another person Ordinary Shares

REREE (M) REGEERER  BE - ATHERBEOER 303,300,000 37.91%
% B AR

Note: Goal Rise Profits Limited (“Goal Rise") is the registered and beneficial owner
holding approximately 37.91% of the issued shares of the Company. The issued
share capital of Goal Rise is owned as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin and 20% by Mr. Li
Jianming. By virtue of acting in concert arrangement between Mr. Li Jianxin and
Mr. Li Jianming which is confirmed and documented in the Concert Parties
Confirmatory Deed, each of Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming is deemed to be
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests and short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which each of them
has taken or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO);
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered into the register referred to therein; or which were required,
pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this annual report
were rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate. As at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company held any share
options of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME"
above, no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or (i) requires the Company enter into any
agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares,
was entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2018 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept 1§
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any

class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at

general meetings of the Company:

PaNkvi

A=

B2 M3

Number and class

FERRRBRORAEBERSGFHE
BmRRE

2018512 A31H - IBEBEFTAE - THIAT(E
FEFAARRAZEITHAEL) ARG A8 R
MREESERAEEIRIEE S LT KRAIE XV
BSCEM AN R B B B ok
B SRR AR RIR IR A I A S 1K 015 336
BIFEERMHOERIRE « KA EEE
AN REFREAERL TR R R MR E
K& 156 A 8 RIRR A 8 5% sk oA _E s -

Approximate
percentage of

Name of shareholders Capacity of securities  shareholding

BREE S EHFHEREN RESNEIL

Goal Rise (Note 1) Beneficial owner 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

feeFt (Hrat 1) EnEAA 303,300,000 37.91%
e Ak

Ms. Chen Ruihua (Note 2) Interest of spouse 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

BRImE LI (M7 2) fliEmEs 303,300,000 37.91%
M

Ms. Wu Xiaojie (Note 3) Interest of spouse 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

RNBL A (Hi73) fliEmEs 303,300,000 37.91%
e

Mr. Zhu Zhijian (“Mr. Zhu") (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 186,700,000 23.34%
Ordinary Shares

REREE([REED) (Wit4) AR EE R 186,700,000 23.34%
el

Portree Wealth Limited (“Portree Wealth") Beneficial owner 186,700,000 23.34%
(Note 4) Ordinary Shares

RERTEARAR((REEAME] (Wite) ERmBEA 186,700,000 23.34%
el

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Notes:

1. Goal Rise is the registered and beneficial owner holding approximately 37.91% of
the issued shares of the Company. The issued share capital of Goal Rise is owned
as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin and 20% by Mr. Li Jianming. By virtue of acting in
concert arrangement between Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming which is
confirmed and documented in the Concert Parties Confirmatory Deed, each of
Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming is deemed to be interested in the entire
shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chen Ruihua is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianxin and is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.

3. Ms. Wu Xiaojie is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianming and is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.

4. Portree Wealth is the registered owner holding approximately 23.34% of the
issued shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Portree Wealth
is owned by Mr. Zhu. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares registered under the name of Portree Wealth.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors are
not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
and any other conflicts of interests which any such person has or
may have with the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits
Limited, in respect of their compliance with the non-competition
undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed such undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Li Jianxin,
Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits Limited have complied with the
non-competition undertaking during the year ended 31 December
2018.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

With effect from 2 February 2019, CLC International Limited (“CLC")
has resigned as the compliance adviser of the Company and the
compliance adviser agreement entered into between the Company
and CLC on 28 September 2017 (the “"CLC Agreement”) has been
terminated. The Company has appointed Titan Financial Services
Limited (“Titan") as the new compliance adviser of the Company
and signed a compliance adviser agreement with Titan (the "Titan
Agreement”) with effect from 2 February 2019.

As at 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report, as notified
by CLC and Titan respectively, save for the CLC Agreement and the
Titan Agreement, respectively, neither CLC nor Titan, as the
compliance adviser of the Company during the respective periods,
nor any of their directors, employees or close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interests in the securities of the
Company or any other companies of the Group (including options or
rights to subscribe for such securities) pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company'’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, charitable donations of
approximately RMB25,000 were made by the Group (2017:
RMB20,000).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 26.8% (2017: 24.3%) of the Group's total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 74.0%
(2017: 71.5%) of the Group's total direct costs.

In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 87.6% (2017: 87.8%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
36.1% (2017: 36.4%) of the Group'’s total revenue.
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None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017 with
written terms of reference (as revised on 30 January 2019) in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and any questions regarding resignation or
dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the financial
statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including review of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any important events affecting the Group,
which have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2018 and up to
the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
were audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the independent
auditor, who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”"). A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and to authorise the
Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Li Jianxin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
& A2 B RN R

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GOAL RISE LOGISTICS (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED
@74 (hE) EERRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
68 t0 146, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements asa &%

BREITEE

BMREH BB AT SOELAG D - B AR
CAMBRATRESNSEE - BLNEHER
A MBHERRLRE RS ERREE B
ESTQRUSEEBERFR -

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter
RBFEER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ESERNPEEMREAETENSE

Estimated provision of expected credit losses for trade receivables

BE BN FE G RS G182

We identified the estimated provision of expected
credit losses for trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significant management
judgment involved in assessing the recoverability
of trade receivables.

EERE S RBRBAFEREEEBRBERNR
FRETEE - DHNERENTGE S ERIGIE
AT B 5 ) R e AT B o

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the provision of
expected credit losses for trade receivables,
management assesses individually for each
significant trade debtors and collectively for others
using provision matrix by groupings of various
trade debtors that have similar loss patterns as
reflected in the debtors’ aging profiles. The
provision rates are estimated using the historical
observed default rates of the debtors taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonably and supportably available to the
directors of the Company without undue costs or
effort, and are updated if considered to be
required.

WMirA P HRERMTAEE BB HRIEERE
HEEEBRER  TIE2EN ARESRERGT
HEEREHEBARREBEANRR TR -
PEEEXBINZEEZEBASE  UERE
B BEERRBRBRBTHREFEANERE - K=
B BERAREFEANBNENANEBEMEER
EXRFUHERSOATEEERMAESE s BEHXxE
RREREEHN -

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of trade
receivables as at 31 December 2018 is
RMB77,796,000 and management concluded that
allowance for credit losses of trade receivables for
the year ended 31 December 2018 is insignificant.

iR E B EmR MR 14FT IR ER - 7A20185F12A318 -

B SR GIER R E A AR 77,796,000 7T & &1
ERAHZ2018F 12 A3 B ILFENE Z EUGIE
TEHEEEERBATER

Our procedures in relation to estimated provision of expected
credit losses for trade receivables included:
BMEME ZEUGIAGT TR EEBEREBENIRTRIE

Obtaining an understanding of management’'s process in
assessing the estimated provision of expected credit losses
for trade receivables;

TREREMTGHE HEYGIBMEHEEBERENR

2

Assessing management’s basis in determining allowance
for credit losses for the individually significant trade
receivables identified with reference to the historical
default rates and the reasonableness of the forward-
looking information being considered,

EEEEEEEMNERE HEBFIENEEBERER
BEE - WRERTENERMZENAEEENNSIEN

Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s grouping
of trade debtors other than those individually significant
ones identified according to the similarities of historical l0ss
patterns,

AL EREREBEBEEEEXAREMA 2 ERIEZE I
2B SEHADHENEIEN

Assessing the reasonableness of management'’s basis in
determining allowance for credit losses for trade debtors
other than those individually significant ones identified by
examining the historical default rates applied in each
category of the provision matrix of the trade debtors, on a
sample basis; and the reasonableness of the forward-
looking information being considered; and
FRMRESEARSESIEBARBERARMNBEER
o GHEEEEREANSEHOENEZENINNE HE
BAELENEEEEREHAEENSEYE  RFAMER
AT ERE BT &

Checking the mathematical accuracy of management'’s
estimated allowance for expected credit losses of trade
receivables for the individually significant trade receivables
and those under the provision matrix.
HEBESMERNERE 5 EBGRIEN R ZERIB R EER
WTEH(EE BB E 2 BB REETRE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018

Hth & #
RATMEFHHMEANER - HLENEEFE
FIRMER T BIEE R R A M RERE
B -

EEMGAMBREBRNERL TREEMBE
o BEZATHZFHEMERBEREAE AL

DK yE A
EEBMET ©

BiMRAMBHRERE  EENAEHHELMLE
B YR @iEREREEEMENEREES
MBBRABESNEATHA TENBEREANTH
7o BT FEEAHERELE - EREZCDTK
WIE MESRAZFEMENFEERER
Rt - BEAREZEE - LM E
EfaRE

e
e

EERFENLIRGEMBEREA
AENERE

BERRERAAERBEEEGIMASRMANE
B IRE LR R EE D TSI 85 B AR E R 2
HERAFOGEAMBERE  YHEEEERY
RETFEERREEL (Tim B R RFFEER)
WA EHRARMSBLENNMENASE

REURAMBHRRE  EFARTNM EQFAE
B THEERBATHRERSERLE
BENER URERFECERGTER K
FEFAEH BEEEBRIUFLULLE  SFIE
HMBERAERTR

BEREEPBHREEST -



Independent Auditor's Report «continuea)

T T 1 BT 355 o0

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report «continuea)

ST A BT 4R o o

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Independent Auditor's Report «continuea)
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From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
FeEBEmkEMEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 22018 12431H I F/E

2018 2017
2018 % 2017 &
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
HtaE AR®TT ARBT T
Revenue WS 5 211,271 192,075
Other income, gains and losses HaUg A - Yz R EE 689 160
Employee benefits expenses EERNHEX (71,992) (63,715)
Sub-contracting expenses DEFHX (61,681) (58,679)
Operating lease rentals KEHERS (21,907) (19,497)
Depreciation of property, Y BEMERETE
plant and equipment (2,953) (3,900)
Interest expense on bank borrowings IRITEZA B = (1,223)
Listing expenses WX = (11,286)
Other expenses HEfx (23,157) (20,655)
Profit before taxation MR RTE T 30,270 13,280
Income tax expenses FriSfifx 7 (8,033) (6,342)
Profit for the year F X Fl) 8 22,237 6,938
Profit and total comprehensive income FRm A N2 RS ERE
for the year 22,237 6,938
Earnings per share BREF 1
— Basic, RMB cents —EE - ARESD 2.78 1.08
— Diluted, RMB cents — % ARES N/AXREHR 1.08

68 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
rE AR R

At 31 December 2018 #2018 12H31H

2018 2017
20185 2017 &
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
HaF AR®TRT ARBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMEEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 12 6,102 7,084
Rental deposits Heke 13 3,326 3,302
9,428 10,386
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Trade and other receivables and B 5 K H A EWRIE &
prepayments SRR 14 81,492 68,297
Amount due from a related party JE UG — & RE R 5 318 15 - 1,726
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIIRE 16 64,284 45,114
145,776 115,137
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEafE
Trade and other payables and B 5 K H A FER FIR A K&
accrued expenses FEETR X 17 32,118 23,973
Amount due to a related party FE T — 24 BB T 2R 0E 15 - 646
Tax payable FERHFTE 6,244 6,299
38,362 30,918
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEERE 107,414 84,219
NET ASSETS BEFE 116,842 94,605

BHYR (FE) ERERDE | 69
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Positioncontineq

sre MR

At 31 December 2018 #2018 12H31H

2018 2017

2018 % 2017 &

NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000

BaE AER®TT ARBT T

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARN

Share capital A% 2R 18 6,761 6,761

Reserves A 110,081 87,844

TOTAL EQUITY M AR 116,842 94,605
The consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 146 were % 68% 146 B &G &S M EHRED N 2019FE3 A 18

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18
March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Jianxin
REW
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H— N\ Z
/ ~ I|\E.|I|\
e E@mEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 220184 12831H 1 F/E

Attributable to the owners of the Company

FATFHE AR

Share Share Statutory Other Retained

capital premium
BFx RORR
RVMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT

reserve  reserve  profits Total
BERR HttEE  REERT it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TR

(note 18) (Note)
(Fs218) (Frit)
At 1January 2017 R2017E1818 - - 2,593 6,999 13,456 23,048
Profit and total comprehensive FREHEEmisesE
income for the year - - - - 6,938 6,938
Issue of shares by capitalisation of & Bk BEEET AR
share premium account BIIRM 5,071 (5,071) - - - -
Issue of new shares BITHR D 1,690 49,022 - - - 50,712
Transaction costs attributable to  Z47 ¥R FEIEM R ZRCAR
issue of new shares - (6,183) - - - (6,183)
Transfers R - - 2,093 - (2,093 -
Capitalisation of amounts due to 1 (< Bl 5 ZE R F AR
related parties (note 23(b)) (HfzE23()) - - - 20,095 - 20,095
At 31 December 2017 R20174612 8318 6,761 37,763 4,686 27,094 18,301 94,605
Profit and total comprehensive  FRERI Rk 2 B 258
income for the year - - - - 22,237 22,237
Transfers =3 - - 2,246 - (2,246) -
At 31 December 2018 #2018 12 B31E 6,761 37,763 6,932 27,094 38292 116,842

Note: It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of the Company established in Hiet -

the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, the subsidiary in the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit
after taxation, as determined under the relevant accounting principles and
financial regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC, to a non-
distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a
dividend to owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years’
losses, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

HEEARDRIRPEARKME ([HE )KL ZHEAR
EERE - RETEEMER  PEMBARASKRE
BANZED10% (REBEARFERINEENTHRE
ARARMBROIEE) AL D RFEES  EER
FHHRIER HFMA KRN 50% A LE o b EEERARR
BAEADIRBRERMEL - ERFES AR EHBESF
EHER(nE) - BRIEES - TRITA DK
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ fﬁui //Zﬁ%%%

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

2018 2017
20185 2017 &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BTRE ARBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KRS
Profit before taxation R BT A 30,270 13,280
Adjustments for: AT FEEL T
Depreciation of property, Yz - WBEMEEITE
plant and equipment 2,953 3,900
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, EEYE - BE REEBE (&)
plant and equipment 7 (5)
Unrealised exchange (gains) losses REMEH (W) B8 (298) 252
Interest income FLBUMA (409) (121)
Interest expense B = 1,223
Operating cash flows before movements in ~ ZEE S EHHSERTRE
working capital 32,523 18,529
Increase in rental deposits paid THE iR 21N (24) (221)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K A FEUGRIE &
and prepayments B4 SR AN (13,195) (23,299)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMERFIBL K
and accrued expenses JE T 7 S 38 AN 8,145 3,267
Cash generated from (used in) operations e pES (FTR) 3R 27,449 (1,724)
Income tax paid BEAETER (8,088) (4,788)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING K EBFTES (FTA) RS F8E
ACTIVITIES 19,361 (6,512)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Repayment from a related party R B B 5 M IE R 1,726 -
Interest income received EF B WA 409 121
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BELREMEHE
plant and equipment 111 66
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E¥% - E REE (2,089) (1,425)
withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REUKIRRITIER = 10,200
Placement of pledged bank deposits FARRITER = (10,200)
Advances to a related party [m)— & Bl 5 2R = (1,726)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) BEEBMES(FTA)ESFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 157 (2,964)

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows continued

mMeERTRnER®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

2018 2017
20185 2017 &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BTRE ARKBTT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB EE
Repayments to related parties FIERE 7 B (646) (10,434)
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRITHER = (34,735)
Expense on issue of shares BITRMDAX = (6,188)
Interest paid BAFE = (1,223)
Advances from related parties A 7 2K = 11,175
Bank borrowings raised EERITER - 18,735
Proceeds from issue of shares BATIRAD FT1S 508 - 50,712
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM MEEE(FTA) TEERESFE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (646) 28,042
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERBEEEWILINFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 18,872 18,566
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERGEHTE
RATE CHANGES 298 (252)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYRERREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 45,114 26,800
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FERBEERIESZEY
OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash EIRTEMR KRS 64,284 45114

BHR (FE) ERERDE | 73

—E2-\FEFER



74

GENERAL

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “"Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The immediate and ultimate holding company is
Goal Rise Profits Limited (incorporated in British Virgin Islands
("BVI"). Mr. Li Jianxin (“Mr. Li JX") and Mr. Li Jianming, who are
acting in concert, are the ultimate controlling party of the
Company. The address of the Company's registered office and
the principal place of business is disclosed in the section
"Corporate Information” in the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
28.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), which is same as the functional currency of
the Company.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A BT IR ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commes®

e SRR @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
The Group has applied the following new and amendments to

HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration
Amendments to Classification and Measurement of

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 4 with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKAS 28 HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property
HKAS 40

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11
“Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference
at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained profits (or other components of equity, as appropriate)
and comparative information has not been restated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

e SRR @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources which arise from contracts with customers:

. Transportation service
o Warehousing service

. In-plant logistics service
o Customisation service

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15
are disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15

The adoption of HKFRS 15 had no material effects to the
amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 nor
its consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the current year.

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related
amendments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and the
related consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9
introduces new requirements for 1) the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, 2)
expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets and other
items (for example, financial guarantee contracts) and 3)
general hedge accounting.

76 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements eoriues®
AR B ISR ER M 5 )

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the related
amendments (Continued)

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date of
initial application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1
January 2018. The difference between the carrying amounts as
at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1 January
2018 are recognised in the opening retained profits and other
components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9

The adoption of HKFRS 9 had no material effects to the
amounts recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 nor
its consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the current year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

e SRR @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations that have been

FE R #TR] KRB RT BB M 1R
EEA(TEBMBREER D)
(#)

E R R RERHE]ED
B ¥ s R R S BB RT AR

7R 3 AR T A TS B AR (R R A
HEOFH BB BREENREETER

issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28
Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Leases’
Insurance Contracts?
Uncertainty over

Income Tax Treatments!
Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with

Negative Compensation’
Sale or Contribution of

Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture?
Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period

beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements eoriues®
AR B ISR ER M 5 )

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but
not yet effective (continuead)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
“Leases” and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback
transactions to be determined based on the requirements of
HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset
should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes
requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to
be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
operating lease payments as operating cash flows. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion
which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on whether
the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the
same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to
lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB67,366,000 as disclosed
in note 20. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases
unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of RMB3,326,000 as rights under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments
under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost.
Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements commes®

e SRR @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSS") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue but
not yet effective (continuead)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
The Group intends to elect the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply this standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the
Group will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain a
lease which already existed prior to the date of initial
application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS
16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial
application to opening retained profits without restating
comparative information.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting policies which conform with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis as explained in the accounting policies
set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for services
rendered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements are determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

. the Group'’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continuea)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Income from transportation service, warehousing service,
in-plant logistics service and customisation service

For revenue from (i) transportation service; (i) warehousing
service; and (iii) in-plant logistics service, for which the control
of service is transferred when the Group had provided the
related services over the service period, revenue is recognised
when the customers simultaneously received and consumed
respective services.

For revenue from customisation service which control of
labelling and bundling services are transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the customers accept the
services and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods and services provided in the normal course of business,
net of discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Revenue from service income is recognised when the services
are delivered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHTBE®)
(Continued)
Government subsidies BT fE Bh

Government subsidies are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the subsidies will be
received.

Government subsidies are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
subsidies are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government subsidies whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government subsidies that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including government-managed retirement benefit scheme,
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conied

e

B SRR M 5F @)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & 22018 12831H 1 F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment |0SSes (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade debtors arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEEE®

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SR T A @)

Financial assets cRMEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets SHEENDEREEE (RENT24)

(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance BENRX EA B BB IREERIZE I%)

with note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are FEUATBRENEREERBIRBHKA

subsequently measured at amortised cost: A=

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose . LB EHRERERENMITEE
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and EREEATHECeHEE &

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash . ERBEFRIEETAHEACZRE SRS
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest HRABINAERREERS ZH
on the principal amount outstanding. B

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are "a Mgt erREE ARR AT ER

subsequently measured at fair value through other AE A 2 EN R E -

comprehensive income:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose . LER SRR R E REEEHARZR
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash CEBEXTHEZERMEE &
flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash . ERGFRIEEAHEAZRE SRS
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest EASNAERAREERSZHE -

on the principal amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance
with note 2) (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss, except that at the date of initial
application/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances and
cash). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and collectively for those with similar
credit risk characteristics using a provision matrix, which based
primarily on the debtors’ aging profiles, grouped by debtor
balances that are not yet due and different aging brackets of
numbers of days past due.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHBKR @
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SRTE@®
Financial assets (Continued) SREEE)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower,

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider,

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceeding or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over three years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped by
considering the below factors:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and
other debtors are each assessed as a separate group.
Amount due from a related party is assessed for
expected credit losses on an individual basis),

° Past-due status,
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets of the Group are classified into “loans and
receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, amount due
from a related party and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below). Interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or disappearance
of an active market for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for an individual receivable
could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
after the respective credit period, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For loans and receivables, the amount of the impairment l0ss
recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will
not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities of the Group including trade and other
payables, and amount due to a related party are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2018
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the following twelve months.

Estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables

The management of the Group assesses ECL for trade
receivables individually for each significant trade debtors and
collectively for others using provision matrix by groupings of
various trade debtors that have similar historical loss patterns
as reflected in the debtors’ aging profiles, grouped by debtor
balances that are not yet due and different aging brackets of
numbers of days past due.

The provision rates applied in the assessments of the
individually significant trade receivables and in the provision
matrix are estimated using the historical observed default rates
of the debtors taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonably and supportably available
without undue costs or effort. At the end of each reporting
period, these historical loss rates are reassessed and updated
if required after considering the forward-looking information
then available to the directors of the Company.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
are disclosed in note 14.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

5. REVENUE 5. W&
(@) For the year ended 31 December 2018 (@) BE2018F12H31HIEF
3
(i) Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from (i) FEBREEFEFSHANWRZNSNT

contracts with customers

2018
2018
RMB’000
AR%TR

Types of services BRISAE

Transportation service BRRSS 97,684

Warehousing service B IR 43,014

In-plant logistics service % PR 9 AR 75 69,415

Customisation service TERAR TS 1,158

Total @it 211,271

Timing of revenue recognition I 25 25

Over time R—EREREA 210,113

At a point in time RNE—EZ 1,158

211,271
(i) Performance obligations for contracts with (i) HEFEANBAEMR
customers

The performance obligations for contracts with AEBRETBERARERFE

customers of the Group’s major sources of revenue B EHROEFWT -

are as follow:

e  Transportation service: delivery of the J BRRE: ANEPH
customers’ inventory to their downstream FEEETHEP, &
clients, manufacturing plants and/or MRS &,/ Sk EHhE, o
designated locations. The transportation BRRERE RS o
services cover across the PRC.

e Warehousing service: provision of inventory J ERERE  ERKEM
storage and management services in the A R B B A 5 T ) 2R IR
Group’s warehouses located in the PRC with AR EREFERT

specified physical conditions. KEBR ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z
5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W&
(@) For the year ended 31 December 2018 (@) BE2018F12H31HIEF
(Continued) B &)
(i) Performance obligations for contracts with (i) HEEFEFENNBHNEEE)

customers (Continued)

o In-plant logistics service: provision of wide- . BMAMRRE : £FRP
range of in-house services at customers’ MAEEREREEZD
manufacturing plants to integrate the FPIRBEAERE £ER
production processes, which cover the B BEUTEHNE
management of the movements of (a) BT @BEEMH
production materials and components and REHGARERDE
work-in-progress to the production lines EREBEFPEERE
within the manufacturing plants of the ABEER : ROAE
customers of the Group; and (b) delivery of BEIHELTERFRH
finished goods to the factory gates of the FERE KK @ E H A8
relevant customers deployed by staff of the PRI o
Group at its customers’ manufacturing plants.

e Customisation service: provision of labelling . FRR : REFER
services (i.e. sticking labels onto the surface % (B BRE P BB R
of the inventory according to customers’ BHUEFEXRE) ki
instructions) and the bundling services (i.e. KRB (AFEIELS
bundling the inventory to facilitate handling ERRIE RiES) —MIER
and transportation) generally provided inside FEMEERNRME -
the Group's warehouses.

The Group recognises its revenue from the REPWE| RBEREEEL

provision of the transportation service, Z Nz e) —REFEA - AEE

warehousing service and in-plant logistics service SRR e ERHERRT

over time as the customers receive and consume 72 17k AR 7% K i P9 9 e AR 7S A LKL

the benefits of the Group’s performance as it me REFEXRE  BAXAE

occurs. The Group recognises its revenue from (] 30 5 75 8 S 1 SR AR A] g U ER

customisation service at a point in time when the REME—FH AEESHE

customers accept the services and the Group has RERETHBRBEOW S (7

present right to payment and collection of the HEREEE(ME) HRMH T

consideration is probable. The payment terms and 14 -

credit terms (if any) are set out in note 14.

The aggregate amount of the transaction price RBEHRRDEZEREIT(K

allocated to the performance obligations that are [ AREIT) MBHEFEZR

unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is nil as at the SERBTAT -

end of the reporting period.
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W= &)
(b) For the year ended 31 December 2017 (b) EZE20177F12H31HIEF
g
2017
2017
RMB'000
AREFT
Transportation service income EHRBEA 89,319
Warehousing service income BRI A 41,759
In-plant logistics service income R P 57 AR 745 U A 59,626
Customisation service income TERIPRFE U A 1,371
Total 45T 192,075
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEER
The Group's operating segments are determined based on REBMNEEDBIIIRERER DA KX
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the A EE T BELEREE (AARH
"CODM") of the Group, being the executive directors of the NEZRALZENBARTNES) ([XE24
Company, who are also the directors of the operating BAKE | ERNERERE -
subsidiary, for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
The CODM regularly reviews revenue and results analysis by (i) FTELERRELRNEHRS (DB FER
transportation service, (i) warehousing service, (iii) in-plant % (i) BmAYIRARTS ¢ K (V) 7E R AR 75 5E Bf
logistics service; and (iv) customisation service. =S ERYSES Pk
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PHER @
Segment revenue and results 7 EB UL ER M SR AR
The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and results INTRAEEREERITZ2H D HEDH
by operating and reportable segments. Was R EBE DT ©
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZE2018F12A31HLEFE
In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
EWRE BRERS B i R it ] A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBTR ARBTR AB®TR ARBFR

Revenue Y

External sales HoMEE 97,684 43,014 69,415 1,158 211,271
Results E3

Segment results AL 21,994 6,802 13,460 535 42,791
Unallocated corporate income AL R 689
Unallocated corporate expenses kAT L% (13,210)

Profit before taxation BEAER 30,270

@I (PE) BRARAT | 100
—T—\FER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conied

ARE B SRR MY R )

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z20184F 12531 H IEF/Z

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEHER ()
Segment revenue and results (continued) pal= N ESYSELAC )
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZE2017F12A318LEE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
EHRE BRAR% BRI RS EARE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL AREFTT AREFTT ARBTT ARETTL
Revenue e
External sales HoMEE 89,319 41,759 59,626 1,371 192,075
Results B3
Segment results nNEEE 17,878 7,334 14,106 629 39.947
Listing expenses IHRY (11,280)
Unallocated corporate income kBB ZUA 160
Unallocated corporate expenses A EAEFHR (15,541)
Profit before taxation BB ATET] 13,280

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent profit earned from each segment
without allocation of listing expenses, corporate income and
certain expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM of
the Group for the purpose of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of segment assets or liabilities is presented as they

are not regularly provided to the CODM.

110 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PHER @
Other segment information H A5 EBE R
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZE2018F12A31HLEFE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics Customisation Segment
service service service service Total  Corporate Consolidated
EW% BREE  RAWRRE EERH b i 3 &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTR  ARRTR  ARWTR  ARRTR  ARBTR  ARRTR  ARRTR

Amounts included in the AREEHETANLE:
meastre of segment resuls:
Depreciation of property, nE BEREENE

plantand equipment 669 1,369 1" - 2,049 904 2,953
Lossondisposal of property,  #1% - BERREHEEE
plant and equipment - - - - - 7 1
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ2017F12A31BLEE
In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics  Customisation Segment
service service Service service Total Corporate  Consolidated
ELTL BEEE  BRMRRE EHRH by =4 aff

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RVB000 RMB000
ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

Amounts included in the AREEHESANLE:
meastre of segment results:
Depreciation of property, plant - 912 - BERARTE

and equipment 705 2338 8 - 3051 849 3900
Gain on disposal of property, 1% - BERaRE L E M
plant and equipment - - - - - 5 5
Geographical information Hh [ & kY
The Group's revenue is all derived from operations in the PRC AEEBZREZBREFPHER  NEE
and the Group’s non-current assets are located in the PRC by ZIERBEEREEMNEMSANRPEH -

location of assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & 22018 12831H 1 F/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the reporting period contributing
over 10% of the Group's revenue are as follows:

PEHER @)
EREXERFMEFR
RS HE A AR B2 B B RIB 0% M E
P -

2018 2017
20184 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR¥TT

Customer A ZEA 76,269 69,911
Customer B =Z5B 54,301 48,256
Customer C Z25C 43,914 38,299

174,484 156,466

Revenue from Customers A and B is generated from all of the
transportation service, warehousing service, in-plant logistics
service and customisation service segments. Revenue from

RERPAMEEBHRSELEOBABIESR
RS - BREARTE « BRI BR TS 2 E & AR
Bode RECHRZEELELBRRY

Customer C is solely generated from transportation service DEB
segment.
7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES M xX
2018 2017
20184 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Current tax EHANIA
PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") FRSERER ([
— current year Fris®i)) — 8,033 6,342

PRC EIT is calculated at 25% of the estimated assessable profits
for both years.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 7. FiEBiExX @
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the FAMSHAL THEGGERREMEAE
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit W2k BV RR B AT R TS BRI -

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2018 2017
2018 2017 €
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Profit before taxation B 75 AT v | 30,270 13,280
Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 2 B 1 PTG T 25% 1)
MEGTENTE 7,568 3,320
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax R a] 0515 Sz W T T8 2 2
purposes 465 3,022
Income tax expenses for the year FRMEHEY 8,033 6,342
As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount of temporary 2018 F 12 A318 - 14 & FERIE L& T IH
differences associated with the undistributed earnings of a BEHE-MEFEKNINNEBRRNERSD
subsidiary established in the PRC for which deferred tax REBEMNEENEREZHFLABRARK
liabilities have not been recognised was RMB46,971,000 (2017: 46,971,000 7T (2017 4F : A R ¥ 26,759,000
RMB26,759,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised TL) o WAMZEEZRERELEHIBEE
in respect of these differences because the Group is in a JFR B 2 7N 55 [ A2 S35 1) B 22 BB A 8 1Bl 5§
position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary N Z S Z N A ARG KA gefigml o

differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

There is no other significant unrecognised deferred taxation for MG A B AR MR IE RIS -
both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

8.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8. FR&F
2018 2017
2018 % 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBT T
Profit for the year has been arrived KR GEA) AT & 18%
at after charging (crediting): FHEBFERER
Directors’ remuneration: BEEHH
— Fees — s 264 67
— Salaries and other allowances — e R H A EE, 1,256 1,544
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIREFIFT 8 R
contributions 84 84
1,604 1,695
Other staff salaries and other allowances Hitte B¥ e K H =R 56,207 51,620
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, RIRRE R ET B R
excluding those of directors TEEEEZEE 14,181 10,400
Total employee benefits expenses EBEFEY @ 71,992 63,715
Fleet operating expenses HREERS 6,072 5,765
Auditor's remuneration 2 B B 35 B
— Audit services — FH R 902 793
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEWE  BEN
plant and equipment REEE () 7 ()
Bank interest income SRITA B U A (409) (127)
Government subsidies (Note) B ARG (B aE) (103) (132)
Exchange (gains) losses PE 5, (Ueas ) B518 (153) 163

Note: The government subsidies mainly represented the annual payment to the
Group for maintaining lower unemployment rate, and early retirement of
motor vehicles which do not comply with latest environmental regulatory
requirement with no unfulfilled conditions attached before recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9.

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ and the chief executive's
remuneration
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company by the
group entities during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

EE - BE51T

[, )65
@ =

&R

BAEREER

B

ERENIENARFES
&%%?kA S BN S RFFIBAT ¢

BZE2018F12A31HLFE

Retirement
Salaries and henefit
other scheme
Name of director Fees allowances contributions Total
HeR SEFiETF
EEna e Hfth RS EHEIH R #st
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TRTE AR®TRE AR%®TR
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Li JX (Note i) RS (M) - 760 42 802
Mr. Li Jianming (Note ij)  Z24&eR %4 (KT ii) - 496 42 538
Independent non- BN IEMITES
executive directors:
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen BERE L (M ativ)
Terence (Note iv) 102 - - 102
Dr. Wu Ka Chee MR (Mativ)
Davy (Note iv) 102 - - 102
Mr. Shao Wei (Note iv) ~ BB& 5c & (Btativ) 60 - - 60
264 1,256 84 1,604

FIR (FE) ZERERAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z20184F 12531 H IEF/Z

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9.

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) Directors’ and the chief executive’s
remuneration (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

EE BETHRAEBREER

M€ 2
@ ZEELHESTBRAEWMS

(%)
BZE2017512831HLEE

Retirement
Salaries and benefit
other scheme
Name of director Fees allowances  contributions Total
ek IRIRAE A
EEMA we H i 2 Rh FTEIMHRK #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Li JX (Note i) BT (M) - 947 42 989
Mr. Li Jianming (Note i) Z2{2 88 %c 4 (K ii) - 597 42 639
Independent non- BN IEITES
executive directors:
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen BEREE (M)
Terence (Note iv) 26 - - 26
Dr. Wu Ka Chee RS (M ativ)
Davy (Note iv) 26 - - 26
Mr. Shao Wei (Note iv) — BBf& %4 (Bfativ) 15 - - 15
67 1,544 84 1,695
Notes: Hat -

(i) Mr. Li JX was appointed as a director of the Company in prior
years and redesignated as an executive director on 31 March
2017.

(i) Mr. Li Jianming was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianming is also the chief
executive of the Group and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

(iif) The executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9.
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Directors’ and the chief executive’s
remuneration (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv) Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy and Mr. Shao Wei
were appointed as independent non-executive directors on 26
September 2017.

V) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

(vi) Except for the emoluments of Mr. Li JX for the year ended 31
December 2017 that fell in the band of HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000, the emoluments of each of the other directors of
the Company were in the band of nil to HK$1,000,000 for both

EE BETHAERESE
M€ 2

(@)

EEhERTRAEME
(#)

Hiet - (&)

(iv) RERE L AREELRBBELEER
20175926 B REERBILIFHITE
$o

W) EXFRRBNGFRITEENHM RS
BEERRTESNHH -

(vi) MRERGERT R AE B E 2017 F 12 A31H b
F € ® H M 1 F1,000001% T E
1,500,000/ 7T bASH » A AR BRE RN
(B Z 8 F B9 F2 %1,000,0008 7T ©

years.
Emoluments of senior management b =REEAE
Of the nine (2017: nine) senior management of the RAFIEE2018F12A3MHILEFE
Ccompany for the year ended 31 December 2018, five HNHB(2017F - hB)BREEA
(2017: five) of them are directors of the Company and B HRARZQ07F: AR) A
their remuneration has been disclosed in note 9(a). The KARIES  MESFHMESEHER
total emoluments of the remaining four (2017: four) BsE9®@) » 2 TP (2017 4F « [04)
senior management are as follows: NEREEBEABENMESRENT
2018 2017
20184 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Salaries and other allowances e R Efh)2Eh 748 543
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RREFEBIER 96 96
844 639

The emoluments of each of the senior management were
in the band of nil to HK$1,000,000 for both years.

IR (FE) ZRERDE

“EB-\FEFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

9.

10.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals of the Group, which are
also senior management of the Company, include two
(2017: two) directors of the Company and three (2017:
three) senior management of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The emoluments of these
three (2017: three) employees are as follows:

9.

EE - BEETHRAEBREES

[0 EACD,

) EERZ=FMAL
HE2018F12A3MBIEFE - A%
BREEeTMAT(HEETRAERA
ARRERE) BEAARMEES
(2017 F : ME) RAEE =25 K
EEEBR7F: ZR) Z=_%AR
B (20174 : =&)MEH AT -

2018 2017

2018 2017 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT AREFIT

Salaries and other allowances e N H abEaL 667 522
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R4k & 5T &) 2k 96 96
763 618

The emoluments of each of the three employees above
were in the band of nil to HK$1,000,000 for both years.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of
the Company or the chief executive of the Group or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the directors of the Company or the chief executive of the
Group waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
both years, nor has any dividend been proposed since 31
December 2018 up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. SREF
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to KRARHEEAFAEMSRERNRFMOG
the owners of the Company for the year is based on the ETEP AT EUE

following data:

2018 2017
20185 2017 &

Earnings 2%
Profit for the year attributable to the HEGRERBFFRBAARA

owners of the Company for the A ANEIEFE R

purpose of basic earnings per share (AREFIT)

(in RMB'000) 22,237 6,938

2018 2017
2018 2017 &

Number of shares Bin&H
Number of shares for the purpose of STESRER(2017F « EA

basic (2017: basic and diluted) NEsE) BRI ATA KD EE

earnings per share (in thousands) (FR%) 800,000 641,096
No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year R 2018 F I S B TE 1T INE AR -
ended 31 December 2018 as there was no potential ordinary WM EE2FEHE2018F 128318 ILEFE
share outstanding for 2018. BREHERR
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended FEEZE2017F12ANBEFENER
31 December 2017 did not assume the exercise of the over- B B R R A R AR RR R B AR AT T
allotment options since the exercise price of those options was HZEERENITEERRAATRGR
higher than the average market price of the Company’s shares 2017 R TE -
for 2017.

RIYR (FE) ZRERAT | 119
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 22018 12431H I F/E

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERRKRE
Furniture
Plant and and office  Leasehold Motor
machinery  equipment  equipment improvement vehicles Total
BEREE  GHRRRG Wogi BAMRKE RE #it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TT  ARRTR  AERTT  AERTR  ARRTR  ARRTR

COST %3

At 1 January 2017 ROT7E1R18 14,497 145 760 4182 4,069 23,653
Additions NE 151 12 33 346 563 1425
Disposals e (94) - (47) - (107) (248)
At 31 December 2017 R017E12A318 14,954 157 1,066 4,528 4,525 24,830
Additions NE 233 - 50 1,712 94 2089
Disposals e (29 - (16) (106) (17 (322)
At 31 December 2018 R018FE12A318 14,758 157 1,100 6,134 4,448 26,597
DEPRECIATION ik

At 1 January 2017 R017F1A18 8,764 107 614 2531 2017 14,033
Provided for the year EMiR 2362 20 57 778 683 3900
Disposals e (88 - (42) - (57) (187)
At 31 December 2017 R017E12A318 11,038 127 629 3,309 2643 17,746
Provided for the year EMiR 1391 7 73 816 666 2953
Disposals e (28 - (14) - (162) (204)
At 31 December 2018 R018FE12A318 12,401 134 688 4125 3147 20,495
CARRYING VALUES FEE

At 31 December 2018 R018FE12A318 2357 2 412 2,009 1,301 6,102
At 31 December 2017 R017E12A318 3516 30 437 1219 1,882 7,084
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

12.

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis as follows:

Plant and machinery
Furniture and equipment
Office equipment
Leasehold improvement

20% per annum

20% per annum

20% per annum

Over the period of the relevant
lease, or over 5 years,
whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 20% per annum

RENTAL DEPOSITS

The balances represent rental deposits placed by the Group in
connection with its rented premises. The directors of the
Company consider that, at the inception of the relevant leases,
the Group is reasonably certain that it will exercise the options
under the relevant terms of the leases to continue to lease the
respective premises upon expiry of the lease terms. Therefore,
the balances are classified as non-current.

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an amount of
RMB143,000 (2017: RMB135,000) as at 31 December 2018 paid
to Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming and their three brothers as the
rental deposit for the office premise owned by them which is
used by the Group.

12.

13.

M BERERE®

L - BERREREANERERTE
LN
TR B B 20%
IV E BE20%
NS 5 20%
HEMEKE AREEOFH
FHEBREF
(A& RE)
B B 20%
HEgE

EHREAEEREEAENENNESIR
o ARAEERAS REBEAMNIILZ
M AEEAERETEESREEONIE
ERITE R HEREORREREZ
HEEWWE - Bt ZERBER/IER
) o

MN2018F12A31H  AEEMA LS H
BE—BRREFE  REPEERE
=B AAREE143,0007T (2017 F -
AR®1350007T) W& 5 - EAREERD
RAESEMEFNRAZSMNBEEILRS -

SR (FE) BRERAR
B\
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 14. ESZREMEWRREBBLULRTER
PREPAYMENTS FIE
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade receivables from contracts with  RBERFE & XM E 5 EWRGIE

customers, gross and net wRa R 77,796 64,975
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE Ko EAth B W T8 3,696 3,322
81,492 68,297
For long-term customers with good credit quality and payment HRNABRFEEERRNREENRS
history, the Group allows credit period of no longer than 120 BFE  AEERTFTHBAI120BHEER-
days. For other customers, the Group demands for full HRHEMER - AEEERNVIEHRER
settlement upon issuance of invoice after the provision of B B R AR B A -
services.
The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables THREZEEFIENRERRIZESR
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting B2 2 BRle DA
period.
2018 2017
20185 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Within 30 days 308 31,753 32,016
31to 60 days 31E60H 18,883 15,178
61 to 90 days 61£290H 17,997 16,727
Over 90 days 0B E 9,163 1,054

77,796 64,975
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB16,199,000 (2017: RMB16,080,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. No trade receivables balance
has been past due 90 days or more, and no amount is
considered as in default based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience and taking into consideration of forward-
looking information. Accordingly, the management of the
Group considers that allowance for credit losses of trade
receivables is insignificant as at 31 December 2018. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables which
are past due but not impaired as at 31 December 2017:

14. EZRHEMERREUR AN
FRIE (4)

M2018F 12 A31H » NEEE 5 UK
BESBPBRIEBEERERARE 16,199,000
TL (20174 + AR #16,080,0007T ) 2 f& IR
B ZEREZRFEAHEEE - e
Z S REMFUEAHE A0 A L - In
EeBEERNAEENBIEEBBEERK
EERATEEE R MR AR - Bt
AEEEREBRABIERABREERS
BEER2018F12A3MBALTEKN K
EEVERZEERITHEEAERRD -

LA &R 2017 12 A 31 A % 858 & R (E
& 5 U IR R SRR D AT

2017
2017 &
RMB'000
ARBEFIT
Overdue by: pabi
Within 30 days 30BA 13,125
31to 60 days 31E60H 2,043
61 to 90 days 61290 H 902
Over 90 days 90 A E 10
16,080
Trade receivables that are denominated in foreign currency, BREEETBRBIINE  heeEB Uz E
currency other than the functional currency of relevant group HEHENE S EKEA -
entity:
2018 2017
2018 5F 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBEFT
United States Dollars ("USD") E(EAD) 12,324 9,245

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out

in note 25.

BE2018FN2ANALFENEG RE
b R MR IR LB B A 1R B P R 25

FIR (FE) ZERERAF

—B—N\FEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z2018%F 12531 H IEF/Z

15. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A RELATED 15. FEUWFE(T — B R 5 KB
PARTY
(@) Amount due from a related party (@) FENW—R&EEEE S IB

Maximum balance
outstanding during the year

FERRSKRAER
2018 2017 2018 2017
20184 2017 4 20184 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETT AR®TE ARETT

Mr. Li JX RUEFT A = 1,726 1,726 1,726
The amount as at 31 December 2017 is non-trade in R2017F12 A31 8 EUFIAIE
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on E5ME  mEH 2R RIERERE

demand. R
(b) Amount due to a related party (b) e —&REEE 7 5B

2018 2017

2018 2017 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR¥TT

Mr. Li JX BRI E = 646
The amount as at 31 December 2017 is non-trade in M2017412 A31H - FER FIEIAIE
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on BoNHE  BEAR £RERREKRE
demand. & e
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 220184 12831H 1 F/E

16. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at variable rates which range from
0.3% t0 0.35% per annum as at 31 December 2018 (2017: 0.3%
t0 0.35% per annum).

The amounts of the Group’s bank balances and cash
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

16.

ﬂ{fmn ﬁ?&iﬁaﬁ

R2018F 12 A31 8 » SRITHEHRIZN T0.3%
F0.35% M F B F A EF B (2017 F - FF|
&(0.3% % 0.35%) °

AEBEARBEESEERNEEEUAINE
BAHENRITESRIRSOSBEIIOT ¢

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBETT

Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") BB
usD ETT

6,428 22,633
8,285 4,892

BHYR (FE) ERERDE
ZE-N\FFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z20184F 12531 H IEF/Z

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

17. EZ R EMEN AR ERT

ACCRUED EXPENSES 53
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBETT
Trade payables B SR E 21,657 14,807
Accrued employee benefits fEsHE B8 T 6,745 5,721
Other payables and accrued expenses — E b~ 3818 & fEETRI X 3,716 3,445
32,118 23,973

The credit period of trade payables is ranging from 30 to 90
days.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

B RNFENEERNF0E0AR -

TIRESENFBERRERRRERA

HIZ D) Z BRER D AT

2018 2017

20184 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTT

Within 30 days 30BR 11,678 9,046
31 to 60 days 31£60H 4,994 4,921
61to 90 days 61E90H 4,962 822
Over 90 days 908 AL 23 18
21,657 14,807
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 220184 12831H 1 F/E

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 17. ES R EMEMATEBEURES
ACCRUED EXPENSES (continued) Xz
Trade payables that are denominated in currencies other than EAEETREUAEEE I EREE
the functional currency of relevant group entity: HE 5 e 3kIE
2018 2017
20185 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

usD E7T 5,256 4,078
18. SHARE CAPITAL 18. A&
Number of Share
shares capital
K H [::2: 3
HKS
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SIFEEO0.01 7 T 3@
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2017 H2017F1A1H 38,000,000 380,000
Increase on 26 September 2017 (Note ) 2017469 B 26 B hn (HisEi) 9,962,000,000 99,620,000
At 31 December 2017 and 2018 R2017 % K% 2018412 A 31 H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid ERTREE
Issued as at 1 January 2017 MK2017F1 81 HE T 10,000 100
Issue of new shares (Note i) BITEIAR Y (et i) 599,990,000 5,999,900
Issue of new shares upon listing (Note iii) 1T (M et iii) 200,000,000 2,000,000
At 31 December 2017 and 2018 R2017 % K 2018412 A31H 800,000,000 8,000,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z20184F 12531 H IEF/Z

18. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

18. BRA& ()

2018 2017
20185 2017 &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Shown in the consolidated statement W44 B %k R & 271
of financial position 6,761 6,761

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

0On 26 September 2017, the Company passed a written resolution
pursuant to which the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased by HK$99,620,000 by the creation of 9,962,000,000 shares of
par value HK$0.01 each.

On 26 September 2017, the Company has approved the issuance of
599,990,000 shares standing to the credit of the share premium of the
Company conditional on the share premium account of the Company
being credited as a result of the share offer of the shares of the Company
(“Capitalisation Issue”). The Capitalisation Issue was completed on 18
October 2017.

On 18 October 2017, the shares of the Company were listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange. 200,000,000 ordinary shares by way of share offer
at an offer price of HK$0.3 each have been issued to investors with gross
proceeds of HK$40,000,000.

The new shares issued rank pari passu in all aspects with the
existing shares.
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(iii)

R2017 59 A268 » RRFAB—BEERZE
R Bt FRAANEEREAEBER
9,962,000,000 A% & iR T 81.0.01 7 7T &9 & 17 3 1
99,620,000 7T ©

R2017F9 A26 B » AD A REFALD ARG
HEREADRRONRNESHGERE - 5t
AR R (B AR 80 AR 8 17 599,990,000 % A% 7
(&R ET]) - ERLEITHR20179F 10718
HERk ©

72017 510 B 18 B » ANA AR {9 FEH 32 T GEM
7 © 200,000,000 % F BRE EBROEEH
RIRBREBEROIBITEITFRESE - FIBX
15 4854 4 60,000,000 7T, ©

BERTHBROEME T EARERNZ
RIS HEF) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 2201841231 H 1L F/Z

19. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 19. BIR#ETE

Prior to the shares of the Company were successfully listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017, the
Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September 2017 which became
effective and unconditional upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the
eligible persons as rewards or incentives for their contribution
to the Group. The Group may, at its absolute discretion, offer
an option to the eligible persons to subscribe for the shares of
the Company at an exercise price and subject to the other
terms of the Share Option Scheme. The total number of shares
of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed
80,000,000 shares of the Company, being 10% of the total
number of shares in issue at the time dealings in the shares
first commence on the Stock Exchange and there was no
change in the total number of shares of the Company available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme and the percentage
of the issued share capital that it represented as at the date of
this report.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each participant under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a
10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
board of directors of the Company.

A A 7 B R 2017 610 B 18 B 7B 2
FrGEM X Ih LT AT - R QBN 201769 A
26 A B G IR EE AR 5T 21 ([ B8 AR A T
2 ERARBROEBRM ETmEE
MR EREGEE BREAENENES
AEEBREERATRLERE  LUEA
HEANEE S TERMOZESONE - K&
B2 ERIERITEERERESESINE
A E ESATIRHEIRE - LARIE
KRR - BAITEREERES E kA
A AR E AR 58I 89 BT A BB AR A i AT
BEBEITHARARRIROHBHEAERETEHEA
80,000,000 l& IR~ B A7 + BN E IR PR AR
FiFmEBEREEHITRGBE 2 10% : M
BRI T B AT BT AR R AR 4
HRENARE A BAATEN B EITRAN
BOLLIEEE -

FBR2EALEM 218 A BREATER
EERELRARTREEMNNBRARNE
] B A 5 SR 2 R 2 B I (B R D
1T - EEE R R T RORE A ) By 2 3%
K #EE 2 RRBRDBETFHEACD %
TN 2 1% » BBAERT BIRS R 10 S iR
AR BHERENTEASTE K
FARRRE

& RERE -

FIR (FE) ZERERAF
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19. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 19. BIRESTE ()

The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to BREEIFTSEBRONITEEEARE
Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board FEEETITANESLHE - BER ZEP%"F
and notified to each participant and shall be the highest of (i) DS EHNESE  (REHERESH

the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the R EBERM O RDETE (ZB JA
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of ARBBMRNZZA) : (VREER T ER
the share options, which must be a trading day of the Stock EEHMAERS BBIHTE R REXRFT
Exchange; (i) the average closing price of the shares of the BIEIRR D E KT E - & (i) AR TR G
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations EfE -

sheets for the five trading days of the Stock Exchange
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

No share option has been granted, exercised, expired, BARDARMNEREEIREEZ 20184
cancelled or lapsed pursuant to the Share Option Scheme 12 A3 B Ik - BiEERERET S A AR
since its adoption by the Company and up to 31 December RERERR YL 1748 - BIER - SN E K -
2018.

20. OPERATING LEASES 20. KEHE
Details of operating leases payments during the year in respect FRNEBHEEYERIRE R R A
of rented premises and plant and machinery and office BREHLERENTOT -

equipment are as follows:

2018 2017
20184 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR¥TT

Rented premises HEMZE 18,568 15,930

Plant and machinery and TR 5 N WA K 9 5B A
office equipment 3,339 3,567
21,907 19,497
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20. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 20. KEHE #)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBEIR  AEBIREBEEBAEEDZE
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non- R = R M A A TS AT BB AC & T B W R 2R B
cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises, REENFAENTBHEET

plant and machinery which fall due as follows:

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBETT

Rented premises HEWE
Within one year —FR 14,757 19,443
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_FEEERF
(BREEEMS) 44,426 47,986
59,183 67,429
Plant and machinery TR 5 Kot A,
Within one year —FR 2,760 1,378
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFREF
(BEEREMT) 5,423 1,167
8,183 2,545
67,366 69,974
Leases are negotiated for the period of one to nine years, of MAOKERNER—ZNF  AEEER
which the Group shall be entitled to terminate one of the BBRFEEELMEABAKIEEP—IF
tenancy agreements which has a remaining lease term of eight MRS NFENEE R - ASEER
years by giving two months’ notice to the landlord. The Group BEMAHREYENELY -

has option to renew the leases for all rented premises.

@I (PE) BRARAT | 131
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21.

22.

23.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 21. EREIE
2018 2017
20185 2017 &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBFT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not HEEYE  BELREDF]
provided in the consolidated financial HEREGZEMBREA
statements in respect of acquisition of B EATH
property, plant and equipment 14,842 686
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 22. RIRERGEHE
The obligation of the Group with respect to the state-managed AEEEHARRERARKERGFENE
retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified FRELFERK - RAFERBAFE -

contributions. During both current and prior years, the total
amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and
charged to the profit or loss represent contributions paid/
payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the schemes. The retirement benefit scheme
contributions made by the Group amounted to RMB14,265,000
(2017: RMB10,484,000) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

REBMEEVEL Rt A BB HER4EE
EAREEIZETERAFTREN L X M,
MEHEIEL AR - AEEEZE 20184 12
A 31 A L FEEL B RIREFEEHER S
A R #14,2650007T (20174 : A B
10,484,000 7T) °

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 23. BB S IHE
(@) Related party balances () AL AR
Details of the outstanding balance with related parties of HEN SR (BB HE 7 00 i R (BB A BRI
the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of BN S ISARR R R MEE13 515 ©
financial position and in notes 13 and 15.
Related parties’ transaction (b) EEEARE
2018 2017
20184 2017 %
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT
Rental expense for the office premise N TRREFT A - BREASE
paid to Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming, Mr. Li Li Jianrong £ 4 -
Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and Li Jianhua %2 &
Mr. Li Jianwen K Li Jianwen 5 A R A W) 3
AeRx 674 609

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) Related parties’ transaction (continued)

Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and Mr. Li Jianwen are
brothers of Mr. Li JX and Mr. Li Jianming. The rental
expense is paid for the office premise used by the Group
in Guangzhou, the PRC. As at 31 December 2018, the
operating lease commitments for the relevant office
premise has been included in note 20 and amounted to
RMB506,000 (2017: RMB1,180,000). The rental deposit
paid to them as at the end of the reporting period is set
out in note 13.

In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2017,
amounts of RMB10,205,000, RMB6,890,000 and
RMB3,000,000 due to Mr. Li JX, Max Fame Corporation
Limited (wholly owned by Mr. Zhu Zhijian, then
beneficially interested in 34.45% of the issued shares of
the Company) and Joyful Huge Limited (wholly owned by
Mr. Lee Seo Thin Patrick, then beneficially interested in
9% of the issued shares of the Company) respectively
were capitalised as contributions from shareholders.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Company

(b)

B

23. BB IRE (&)

BAEE T X 5 ()

Li Jianrong %t 4 - Li Jianhua %t A& K Li
Jianwen %t 4 A& B2 2 37 5t A B 22 i AP
FEMRSE - MEHT ARNEEMA
RPN AMER S -
MR2018F12A31 8 BAHAWME
B AS & T B AR B A R 506,000 7T
(20174 + AR ¥1,180,0007T ) E &
AMIFE20 RBEBARZAS FHES
MR IS E M3 -

SRS - BE2017F12 AN ALEFE
JEZREF SR E - REARA A (H
KREBELEZERE  KREBXRER
RRAFBEBEITRG34.45%HE E =
#w ) J S % A R~ 7] Lee Seo
Thin Patrick /e £ 2 & # & - Lee Seo
Thin Patrick S 2R AR BB 1T 9
% EBE B ) EDBIARY
10,205,0007T ~ A R 6,890,000 7T &
A R #3,000,000 7T A BB F & H =
BRENR o

AR EEEEABH B

2018 2017

2018 % 2017 &

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TTRT AREET T

Fees e 264 67

Salaries and other allowances e MEMERL 2,004 2,087
Retirement benefit scheme RO FIET 2R

contributions 180 180

Total W=t 2,448 2,334

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and
other key management personnel of the Company are
determined having regard to the performance of the
individuals.

ARREBZERARREMEREIEA
BMHBREEARRETE -
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24. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
companies will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The overall strategy for the
current year remains unchanged compared with previous
years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, various reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
and the risks associated with each class of the capital. Based
on the recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt.

24, EXRE B EE
AEBEBHEER KRB BELEKE
ol T mRAEEETSART
BELE  RRESERFEAZLOR-
AEEMERREEAEFEALERET

ek

= e

AEBEWMERRERARRFEE ARIGRE
@ (R ETRA - SRBERREEN)
#RRK o

ARBEETER R ERRE - FRZER
AE -y EEERERERNORAR
HERR EREENEBER  ~A&HE
HBEB A RE - FIRMDBFETRENED
ARBTHEBN T A FEEBEEARR
e

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. €@T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments @ s=mIEHEH
2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ANREFIT
Financial assets SREE
At amortised cost (2017 loans and B SE A AT BR (2017 F -
receivables (including cash and cash &3 R FE RIS (B3E
equivalents)) B4 RELZEY)) 143,558 112,826
Financial liabilities cRBaE
Amortised cost BEIERA 24,148 16,753
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. RITE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) cREREEBZENMBER
policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade AEENFEEHMTAREESRE
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade fhFEWGKRIE - RITEBREIRE - EH
and other payables and amount due from/to a related REA AR R —E
party. H6 5 5RI8 o
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the ZESRMITAFBENSWERE - &
respective notes. The risks associated with these %Z%%EEIHE%%E’JH@&% EERE
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate BRERERHINN T - EREEE
these risks are set out below. The management manages &ﬁti ZERB - AR KRB R
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate EiEEE AR o
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
Market risk TG E R
() Currency risk i  EEEE
A subsidiary of the Group has foreign currency NEE—EH B AR AINE
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to EITHHE RIRE X%
foreign currency risk. TED i 71N GEE fL B
The Group currently does not have a foreign K‘ilfﬂﬁ%fﬁﬁ\\% ORI
currency hedging policy. However, the PR - B IR [E ) B R HME &
management closely monitors foreign exchange % iﬁ@ﬁéﬁ%%ﬂ%%ﬁé%qﬂ
exposure and will consider hedging significant BARINE Rz o

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

0]

25. €@ R

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) =rREkEEREBZERBK
policies (continued) (#)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
Currency risk (Continued) ()  EEEE(E)
The Group's currency risk is mainly attributable to REENEERRFEHHARN
the exposure outstanding on bank balances, trade ﬁiﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ =Y &N
receivables, trade and other payables and amount B REMEMNFIENE
due from/to a related party denominated in HKD HSZ/H & A 75»(%7&&%
and USD. The carrying amounts at the end of each TLEMEMRKIE - REREHR
reporting period are as follows: BRREEWT -
Assets Liabilities
BE af®
2018 2017 2018 2017
20184 2017 & 2018 2017 &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT AR®TT AREFIT
HKD BT 6,428 23,286 - 646
usD ETT 20,609 14,137 5,256 4,078
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

0

(il

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against the
relevant foreign currencies. 5% represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
negative number below indicates a decrease in
post-tax profit for the reporting period where RMB
strengthens 5% against the relevant foreign
currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

25. ®@MI A %)

TREREEBELRBER

(#&)

miSmR ()

(0

B (E)

BURE DT

TRADARE LEBINET
@&ﬁé{ES%E%ZKEIE’J@lE’Z
JZ - 5% IEE IR EHIIME

I T B B A AT A o &ﬁ(ﬁfﬂ%n
MEBRAREEINETEER
T8 B 3 S B R 3 5% #9 S
KEXRZEEHHAEMRE - LT A
BRTMARE L EBINET
1B5% @ S MR AR RR
MR o AR LG RBINE
f285%  HEHBRBRENE
FRHERMNTZE -

Post-tax profit

BiRERF
2018 2017
2018 % 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARET T

HKD T (241) (849)
uSD ETT (576) (377)
Interest rate risk (i) FEERE

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from its
bank balances in the PRC and Hong Kong of which
management does not anticipate any significant
impact resulting from changes in interest rates in
the stated places. The position is regularly
monitored and evaluated by reference of
anticipated changes in market interest rates. The
Group did not use any interest rate swap to hedge
its interest rate risk during both years.

AEEMMERREZREE
KRB LBENRITAES &
3 E L 4L Y8 A P AL 1t B ) ) 2R
EPHI T EHREMNE

B AEE2EMHNENA
aiR e T HAEE 5% R AT A R AR
e AEBERMFRAERE
[EEIESEEEVE 2y e RS

T (RED) BRAERAT
—E\EEH
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under the ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 (2017:
incurred loss model) on each individually significant trade
balances and collectively for others using provision
matrix by grouping of trade debtors that have similar
historical loss patterns as reflected in the debtors’ aging
profiles, grouped by debtor balances that are not yet due
and different aging brackets of numbers of days past
due. The provision rates applied in the assessments of
the individually significant trade receivables and in the
provision matrix are estimated using the historical
observed default rates of the debtors taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonably and supportably available without undue
costs or effort. At the end of each of the reporting period,
these historical loss rates are reassessed and updated if
required after considering the forward-looking
information then available to the directors of the
Company. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is also limited because
the counterparties are banks with good reputations.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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(b)

TRIEREERRRBER
(#)

FERBRRBEN
AEEREHNESEERRKER
AEBRSF I RERBITEEMAES
MEEIE - ZRBR TR AR A SR
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BEMNREE -

AEENEERBRIEREESEK
KB - RREREEERR  A%E
ERECZRNEBREEEEER
B EEHEREMERERF - AW
RIRBURETE Y @ B BRE TS - 1t
S AEERERE LY B REER
FOTRIRERMEERBEEN (2017
FDELARBER) ERERER
HEBREXRE ZBEHREITRER
it AR ABEEERR AL (R
REB AR D) B E 5 YRR
DA RIEEAREH B R
FIARER A BT D BV EE A RS
HAib HXEETRET - FFEERNE
RE 5 EMGRIE AR B R AT A
BETIZAEERANER AR KRG
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. RITE#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) =@REkEEREBZEREEK

policies (continued) (#)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBEEEN(Z)

The credit risk on other receivables is limited because of B EMERIERN LS - BF T8
the natures of these balances, credit quality of the FEEEHERBTAEHEDE  WZEE
counterparties and the historical settlement record. HEEERBRER

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has concentration of
credit risk in trade receivables as 35% (2017: 39%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer. The Group's concentration of credit risk on the
top five largest customers accounted for 94% (2017: 92%)
of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2018.
The management of the Group considers the credit risk
of amounts due from these customers is insignificant

M2018F12A31H  AEEEESH
EURFBEESEHRR EAEEE
AEF B SHEWGRIBENE S EWIE
#AFBH)35% (2017 5 : 39%) ° AE[E
RARBEFPHEESFRRBMER
2018 12 AN HHME S EWGRIELR
REM)94% (2017 F = 92%)  NEEE
BERA RERIXRSFHEFHBAE

after considering historical settlement records and HEERHRAIEEERE  BRZE
forward-looking information. BPHIEMEERBITERX -

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

TRELANEEAFEREEBRN
ENEREENEERRMA :

assessment:
External Internal Gross
credit credit 12-month or carrying
2018 rating rating lifetime ECL amount
12EBR%ZH
20184 SHEBEETFR ABEETFE FHEHEGR IRE#{E
Notes RMB’000
MtaE AR®TT
Financial assets at
amortised cost
HREMEEED
eMEE
Trade receivables 14  N/A Note | Lifetime ECL 77,796
2 Sl IA T iE Htati 2 EITEENE BB 1R
Other receivables 14  N/A Note i 12-month ECL 1,404
H At EU /1B T iE Btatii 12 & AR B E g 18
Bank balances 16 Prime-1 N/A 12-month ECL 64,284
RITAEER Prime—1a¥4¢ 1@ 1218 ATEEEEEE
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses for
individually significant trade debtors and collectively for others
using a provision matrix. During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group considers that provision of impairment allowance
for trade receivables is insignificant.

(i) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the 10ss
allowance at 12m ECL as there is no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. The Group determines the expected
credit losses for other receivables by assessment of probability of
default. During the year ended 31 December 2018, in view of the
nature of the balance and historical default rate, the Group
considers the provision of impairment allowance for other
receivables is insignificant.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains levels of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to

pay.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest rates are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.
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(b)

T REREE B R RER
(#)

15 S B KR B R ()
At -

(i) HRESRUYKENS  AKECEAE
B BREEREIFEIEN R
BHERBEFEBERE AREE
EENERE 5 RUFENFEREERS
B RERREERARETEMOTR
HMEEREE - BHE2018F12A31H 1
FE- ERAE 5 EYGKENRE
EREBEBLTERK -

(i) RABEERREEMNS  AEEEE
REBMBEREEMEIR —RENIR
12EABREEBRFEFHEEG T
MAE B LR B )25 T R LA SR IE 48 KR
En e ARBEBFEIERATEMLEE
HMEURENEREEEE - B2
2018FN2ANBILFE  HERZEFHE
HOUERBEERE  ARERAE
YR REEERBLTERX

EERRBESRRE  AEESE
SRERTE RASSEYNELE
RERABNAREH S EWRERS
MERBFERIKE -

TRAVAEEHTESRABENT
HANHR - RBERAEBATH
FHHEFAHNEREERFTRAS

MEHIE
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. SET R ®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) mEARERBZEEER
policies (continued) (®)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESER(F)
Liquidity tables B LS EE

As at 31 December 2018 #2018 12 5 318

Weighted  Repayahle on Carrying
average tlemand or Total amount
effective less than 1-3 4months  undiscounted at31
interest rate 1month months to 1year cash flows  December 2018
R2018%

il £3 HEARE KfiRAL 12318

RiRHE BOR1ER 12388 4EREME RERE WkEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTR AERFT AERFT AERFT ARRTR

Non-derivative FiiEeMAR
financial liabilities
Tradle and other payables ZHREMERTE = 14,169 9,956 23 24,148 24,148
As at 31 December 2017 MH2017F12 A31H
Weighted Repayable on Carrying
aerage demand or Total amount
effective less than 13 4months undiscounted a3t
Interest rate T month months f01year cashflows — December 2017
RO
ET REXEE KARE 12A318
ER= 5oR11EA 123087 tARE1E ik AR
% RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Non-derivative FiERHAR
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables LoRAMERZE - 10,346 5743 8 16,107 16,107
Amountduetoarelated party  EREEAEE - 646 - - b6 646
10992 5183 18 16,753 16,753
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value

The management considers that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the end of the reporting period
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

26. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for
the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2018:

25.

26.

E@TE®)

) RY¥E
BEERBRNBEBRANGA HTER
ST R R A BR R A B S B
BERSHMABMETEELATE
BE - BEATECERAREES R
ENME—MARTEERET -

BETBELENEEHR

TERASAHEASEEREETDELENE
BEEHHE BEASKIFREH -5
BELDEEANBEBERABRAEE
NiEeReRERNDEAREEDEE
KRB °

HE2017FN2018F12A3MHIEFERN
MEEHELHBEYER

Amount due Total liabilities

toa Bank from financing

related party borrowings activities

T —&HR MEETHEE

BARIE SBITHR AR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFTT AREBTT

At 1 January 2017 ®2017F1A1H 20,000 16,000 36,000

Financing cash flows (Note) MEBRETRE (KiT) 741 (17,223) (16,482)

Non-cash changes B #E)

Finance cost B F& R AR - 1,223 1,223
Capitalisation of amounts due to & i 1~ B i 5 7408

related parties (note 23(b)) BREXR(ME230)) (20,095) - (20,095)

At 31 December 2017 MR2017F12A31H 646 - 646

Financing cash flows (Note) BEBERE (WiT) (646) - (646)

At 31 December 2018 2018412 A31H - - -

Note: The cash flows for amount due to a related party and bank borrowings
above include the net amount of advances from and repayments to the
relevant parties in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements corines® “1{,@‘
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 220184 12831H 1 F/E

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 27. XA BB IBARR T
THE COMPANY

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSET IERBEE

Investment in subsidiaries RHTB A RIMIEE 53,509 53,509

CURRENT ASSETS MENVEE

Other receivables H h fE U R IE 103 -

Bank balances and cash IRITEBR IS 122 251

225 251

CURRENT LIABILITIES mEafE

Other payables and accrued expenses — H i < 208 LA K JEE TR =2 88 25

Amount due to a related party JE {5t — 4 R HsE 5 7k0E = 134

Amounts due to subsidiaries R I EEPNGIE 5,999 4,026
6,087 4,185

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REAEFE (5,862) (3,934)

NET ASSETS BEFE 47,647 49,575

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRI

Share capital N 6,761 6,761

Reserves & 40,886 42,814

TOTAL EQUITY MR 47,647 49,575
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z20184F 12531 H IEF/Z

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

The following are the movements of the Company'’s reserves
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2018:

27.

DB B AR R R ()

HZE2017F N2018F 12 A31H IEFE R

RANFHREE

Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRiRR Hft Gk RitEE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREFT ARBFT ARBFT
At 1 January 2017 R201751A18 - - (2,837) (2,837)
Loss and total comprehensive FRABEREZARTBE
expense for the year - - (12,207) (12,207)
Issue of shares by capitalisation  EiBi5H 1) & BEEE R B AR
of share premium account BITRRAD (5,077) - - (5,071)
Issue of new shares BITHRG 49,022 - - 49,022
Transaction costs attributable to  B1787R 1% FEh 12 Sk 2R
issue of new shares (6,188) - - (6,188)
Capitalisation of amounts due to & JE{+ BEEE 77 BB E R E AR
related parties (note 23(b) (B 23(b) - 20,095 - 20,095
At 31 December 2017 R2017E12A31R 37,763 20,095 (15,044) 42,814
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZARTAE
expense for the year - - (1,928) (1,928)
At 31 December 2018 M2018F 12 A31H 37,763 20,095 (16,972) 40,886
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 # 220184 12831H 1 F/E

28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December

2017 and 2018 are as follows:

28. B A S
AN A B A AR 2017 & K 2018412 A
3THMFEBAT

Issued and
fully paid Equity interest
Place and date share capital/ attributable to the
of incorporation/  Place of registered Company as at Principal Form of
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation capital 31 December activities company
AL/ e EETRER R12A31H
MELEEH RAK e ks /ihEs LY IERK NERR
2018 217
2018% N17E
Directly held by the Company:
ARAERRE
Goal Rise Logistics BYI Hong Kong US§100 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liability
Investments Limited 28 November 2016
BAMRREERAT EBRAES B 100%7 TARK ERAF
016F 114288
Goal Rise Logistics (Overseas) BYI Hong Kong US§100 100% /A Investment holding Limited liability
Investments Limited (Note) 1 August 2018
AR (8N REARAT EBRuES B 0% MR REBR BRAA
(i) WI8FBA1R
Indirectly held by the Company:
FRAGERE
Goal Rise Logistics Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liability
(HK) Limited 2 December 2016
EAR(ER)BRAT Bk E 1AL RARR ERAF
N16E12828
Guangzhou World-Link The PRC The PRC RMB45,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of Limited ligbility
(Ching) Co. Ltd. 27 November 199 transportation,
warehousing, in-plant
logistics and
customisation services
BMRERT (e ARAT hEl HE ARH® RitEs 2H BRAA
196E11A278 45,000,0007 BAMTREERS

AT (RE) BRERAT | 145
ZE-N\FFER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements conied
ARE B SRR MY R )

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z2018%F 12531 H IEF/Z

28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 28. B A RIFHE®)

Issued and
fully paid Equity interest
Place and date share capital/ attributable to the
of incorporation/  Place of registered Company as at Principal Form of
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation capital 31 December activities company
R/ RIS ERTREE ®12831A
EANEEA RAH 2k k% /ifEs LG TERE NG
2018 017
2018% M7
Goal Rise Logistics (Global) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100% /A Investment holding Limited liability
Limited (Note) 7 August 2018
AR OB BRAR (1) Bk A 1007 NER RERRK BRAA
N18E8A7A
Goal Rise Logistics (nternational) -~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS$100 100% N/A - Investment holding Limited liability
Limited (Note) 7 August 2018
i (BB BRAA (M) Bk E 1007 NER RELR ERAF
N18E8ATH
Goal Rise Logistics Egypt Egypt EGP50,000 100% N/A - Inactive Limited liability
(Egypt) Limited (Note) 22 October 2018
AR RR)ERRAME) KR R 50,0005 k5% TER BED ERAR
NBENARE
Note: Newly incorporated during the current year. Bfat : AARFEEFEMASL o
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the BERBEQ R ERRERRIMEFE
end of the reporting period or at any time during both years. BB BT EBE S
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Financial Summary
B2

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the ABEAEERNBEMERRFEENEEREER
Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from the BEBEMNHEEARQFC TIENEERGA I
published audited consolidated financial statements or the  ERERKAQFBEBREEHTIAT

Prospectus of the Company is set out below:

RESULTS E 3

For the year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018
20154 20165 2017 % 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT AREBTT ARBTT AR®TRE

Revenue Wz 150,277 153,975 192,075 211,271
Profit before taxation B 5 A 18,519 19,885 13,280 30,270
Income tax expenses FRiSHi 2 (5,224) (5,778) (6,342) (8,033)
Profit for the year F W= 13,295 14,107 6,938 22,237
Attributable to: AT & A
— owners of the Company — A&RRQFHHA A 5,886 5,697 6,938 22,237
— non-controlling interests ~ — 3E1E AR kEzE 7,409 8,410 - -
13,295 14,107 6,938 22,237
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Financial Summary contnueo)
B T L

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥7ZE - - &8ERFEZERER
INTERESTS

As at 31 December

#®12RA31H
2015 2016 2017 2018
20154 20165 2017 € 20184
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTET ARBTT AR®TRE

Total assets MEE 65,978 84,499 125,523 155,204
Total liabilities waE (44,478) (61,451) (30,918) (38,362)
Net assets EEFH 21,500 23,048 94,605 116,842
Non-controlling interests FEIERR I (6,882) - - =

Equity attributable to the ZA/NSIEZS DN
owners of the Company FEfG M= 14,618 23,048 94,605 116,842
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